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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE” AND “GEM”, RESPECTIVELY)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a
higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market
in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of
this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Icon Culture
Global Company Limited (the “Company’, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the
“GEM Listing Rules’) for the purpose of giving information with
regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the
information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all
material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no
other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein
or this report misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERE®E

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company,
together with its subsidiaries (the “Group”), | present the annual
results of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2019
(the "Year”).

MARKET REVIEW

The global economy started rough with the uncertainty for Brexit
and the on-going trade conflicts between China and the United
States of America. The economic growth of the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC") has slowed down in 2019. Even though it is still
within the government’s expectation of between 6.0% and 6.5%,
however, the Chinese economy grew 6.1%, which was the weakest
growth in the last 29 years.

Shrouded in a seemingly gloomy economic atmosphere by the
economic growth of both the PRC and the rest of the world in
2019, nevertheless the advertising industry had been growing
steadily throughout the year. According to the iResearch Report,
the total advertising market size in the PRC, measured by
advertising service providers' revenue, grew from approximately
RMB347.0 billion in 2014 to approximately RMB652.8 billion in 2018,
representing a compound annual growth rate (the “CAGR") of
approximately 17.1%. The market size of the advertising industry in
the PRC is projected to further expand at a CAGR of approximately
18.8% to approximately RMB1,589.8 billion in 2023.

It is more encouraging for the industry and our business that the
Chinese Government has been emphasizing the development of
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area. Guangzhou,
where the head office of the Group is located, bears a vital role in
facilitating and supporting the economic development of the
region, with a view to enhancing the role and functions of the
Greater Bay Area in the country’s two-way opening up.

With the ties between the regions in the Greater Bay Area become
closer, the geographical boundaries have been even blurred by the
technological advancement, like artificial intelligence “Al” and big
data. These innovative technologies had continued to steal the
spotlight in the world. As a matter of fact, it is undeniable to us that
reliance on IT has increased in every aspects of our lives as well as in
business operations of corporations. It is not surprising that the
advertising market of the PRC is also moving in line with this trend.
Online advertising has been increasingly popular in the market.
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On the other hand, Out-of-home ("OOH") advertising, despite the
overall slowdown of offline advertising, particularly with indoor
advertising, due to the emergence of internet advertising, is
expected to remain the driving force in offline advertising between
2019 and 2023, a forecasted CAGR of approximately 16.5% for
advertising in public transport and approximately 17.1% for
advertising in commercial properties and communities. According
to the iResearch Report, the growth of OOH advertising in the
Greater Bay Area, particularly in Shenzhen and Guangzhou, will be
substantial. It is estimated that from 2019 to 2023, OOH advertising
in the PRC will grow at a CAGR of approximately 12.9% from
approximately RMB54.2 billion to approximately RMB88.2 billion,
accounting for approximately 45.6% of the size of the entire offline
advertising market in the PRC.

EMBRACING THE NEW MARKET TERRAIN

In this fast paced and ever-evolving advertising industry in the PRC,
during the year of 2019, the Group had been keeping ourselves
alert to the market trends and developments.

As a seasoned player in the industry since 2009, we dedicate to
provide holistic solutions to our customers, including strategic
planning, formulation of advertising solutions, provision and sourcing
of advertising spaces, content production, co-ordination with
advertising platforms, execution of advertisements, organisation of
public relation ("PR") events and other promotional activities, as well
as evaluation of the effectiveness of the advertisements. With our
extensive experience in the advertising industry, our footprint of
clienteles spread through various industries. During 2019, we had
over 180 customers including well-know brand owners ranging from
entertainment and leisure industry like Chimelong Group, internet
industry like Tencent Group, household essentials and beauty-care
industry like Liby Group, banking and finance industry like Guangdong
Huaxing to the insurance industry like Hengqin Life Insurance* (22 A
£5), property industry, catering industry like Imperial Palace* (88 2 B fF),
to food & beverages industry and even automotive industry. The wide
spectrum of customers from different industries not only is a proof of
our performance and high quality work delivered to our clients who
continuously put their trust on us, it also allowed us to understand
more of the needs for various industries and empowered us to better
tailor different advertisement and promotion solutions to cater the
needs of our clients.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

Meanwhile, grabbing hold of the development of technology and
the internet in 2019, yet, keep in mind our vision to provide holistic
solutions to our customers, we had offer a wide range of online
advertising resources based on preferences and behavior of
internet users including social media and e-commerce platforms
with the internet media giants in the PRC. And the Group is also
exploring new advertising forms such as online stream to provide
innovative solutions for our clients.

OUTLOOK

Thanks to the hard work of our experienced and dedicated
management team in 2019, we progressively built ourselves a solid
base to welcome the opportunities ahead. In January 2020, we kick-
started the journey to the listing of the shares of the Company on
GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange’, the “Shares” and the “Listing”, respectively) by way of
share offer, aiming to put forward our business objective by
stepping into this new arena with better fund raising ability and
reputation in the market. With the proven track record in providing
integrated multimedia advertising and marketing solution services
and loyal and diverse base of customers and exclusive OOH
advertising resources and exclusive advertising spaces at key
locations with widespread coverage, in the years to come, we shall
increase coverage of our exclusive advertising resources while
actively expand our customer base and sales by extending business
coverage and service offerings; and develop and enhance our big
data and information technology infrastructure.

The year 2020, to many, may not begin with optimism with the
global outbreak of COVID-19. Some of the industries like catering
and tourism may experience some significant impact on the
pandemic, and the impacts of the pandemic will of course affect
the advertisement budget of our customers, which creates
difficulties to the Group's performance. Nevertheless, the pandemic
will also accelerate the transition from the traditional offline media
advertising services to the online media advertising service on
social media and other internet platforms, which brings new
opportunities to the Group to develop and strengthen its core
competency in the future advertising industry.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWEDT T

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is an integrated multimedia advertising and marketing
solution service provider based in Guangzhou, the PRC and offers
advertising and marketing solutions covering (i) traditional offline
media including both OOH and indoor advertising platforms; (ii)
online media; and (iii) PR, marketing campaigns and other services
to our customers comprising brand owners, state-owned entities in
the PRC, advertising agencies and government authorities. Our
integrated multimedia advertising and marketing solution service
primarily focused on the formulation of advertising strategies for
our customers, and identifying and sourcing the most appropriate
advertising resources and formats to maximise the effectiveness of
our customers’ advertisements.

For the Year, the Group has recorded revenue of approximately
RMB150.1 million, representing a decrease in revenue by 28.2% as
compared with the revenue recorded for the financial year ended
31 December 2018 of approximately RMB208.9 million. For the Year,
the Group has recorded a loss for the year of approximately
RMB42.3 million, representing a decrease in profit for the year by
328.9% as compared with the profit for the year for the financial
year ended 31 December 2018 of approximately RMB18.5 million.

The decrease in revenue and profit was mainly due to (i) the decline
in revenue generated from non-exclusive television advertising
spaces and online media advertising during the Year as a result of
reduced budget from existing customers while development of
new customers required more time and efforts; (ii) non-recurring
listing expenses of approximately RMB17.8 million; and (iii) accrual
costs relating to a supplier contract recognised in 2019 yet revenue
recognised being deferred. The management will seek exploring
new customers to increase revenue in year 2020. For details please
refer to "New Business Cooperation In 2019 And Strengthening
Corporate Governance Measures” in Management Discussion and
Analysis.
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On 14 January 2020 (the "Listing Date"), the Shares were
successfully listed on GEM (the “Listing of Shares”). The net
proceeds from the Listing of Shares (the “Net Proceeds”) after
deducting the underwriting commission and related listing
expenses payable by the Company, were approximately HK$30.6
million.

TRADITIONAL OFFLINE MEDIA ADVERTISING
SERVICES

Offline advertising market refers to the traditional advertising
market. It consists of television advertising, radio advertising,
newspaper advertising, magazine advertising and OOH advertising.
Traditional forms of advertising under the offline segment has
evolved continuously as a result of new advertising forms
development and digitalization.

During the Year, the traditional offline media advertising services
segment represented our largest business segment, which included
the provision of public transportation hubs, LED in shopping malls,
flat panel, frame displays in shopping malls and commercial
buildings and housing estates.

The revenue of traditional offline media advertising services for the
Year was approximately RMB133.0 million (2018: approximately
RMB169.0 million), indicating a decrease of 21.3% by approximately
RMB36.0 million. It accounts for approximately 88.6% of the total
revenue of the Group in 2019 (2018: 80.9%).

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEWEDN

ONLINE MEDIA ADVERTISING SERVICES

Online advertising can be categorized into four sub-segments, (i)
information retrieval advertising which refers to search engine
advertisements, where advertisers purchase specific keywords and
organic search ranking on web pages that match the consumers’
search results; (i) content consumption advertising which refers to
a web-based form of banners, text, images, flash displays on
websites, applications or other online platforms; it also consists of
audio, video applications and short video applications; (iii)
e-commerce advertising which is generally linked with relevant
product images and websites that drives online sales; and (iv) social
media advertising which refers to social media applications such as
WeChat, Instagram and other forms of we-media embedded within
the application; this form of advertising has been growing rapidly
alongside with the influence of internet media giants such as Baidu,
Alibaba, Tencent and Toutiao (the "BATT"); the BATT is constantly
expanding and evolving, integrating their media products and
services to increase the reach and conversion rates of
advertisements to consumers and audiences.

The provision of online media advertising services generally
involves the provision of advertising services using web portal,
online video, social media service engine, information media and
apps. During the Year, the revenue of online media advertising
services segment was approximately RMB9.7 million (2018:
approximately RMB14.5 million, indicating a decrease of 33.0% by
approximately RMB4.8 million. It accounted for approximately 6.5%
of the total revenue of the Group in 2019 (2018: 6.9%).

Though online media advertising service is still a small portion of
the Group's revenue, it has indicated a large potential to grow. The
Group will continue to locate new opportunities in online media
advertising services and seek to further enlarge the proportion in
the revenue.
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PR, MARKETING CAMPAIGNS AND OTHER SERVICES

PR, marketing campaigns and other services included devising
strategies, formulating advertising solutions, co-ordinating with
media platforms as well as organising and executing the campaign.

The revenue of the Group from PR, marketing campaigns and other
services will be recognised when the related services are rendered.
During the Year, the revenue of PR, marketing campaigns and other
services was recognised when the related services were rendered.
The revenue of this segment was approximately RMB7.4 million
(2018: approximately RMB25.5 million), indicating a decrease of
71.1% by approximately RMB18.1 million. It accounted for
approximately 4.9% of the total revenue of the Company in 2019
(2018:12.2%).

PROSPECTS

The Listing of Shares on the Listing Date marked a milestone to the
Group’s business development. The outbreak of the novel
coronavirus disease in the world painted a sombre canvas for 2020.
The impact of the pandemic has started to slide especially in the
industries related to catering and tourism. It is anticipated that
there will be a slight impact on the advertising industry in a short
term. The Company believes that there will be growth, if not an
explosive boost, in the consumption and retail markets upon the
epidemic ends. Though the spread of the coronavirus may be seen
as a risk to business, it will be turned to a golden opportunity for
the well-equipped. With years of experience, well-established
reputation and loyalty and trust from our clients from various
industries, the Company is more than ready, especially with the
Listing of Shares in 2020, to formulate our business strategy to
emphasize our online media advertising services. As an integrated
multimedia advertising and marketing solution service provider, we
have considerable experience in internet advertising, delivering
advertisements to netizens such as WeChat users, video streaming
site audience and search engine users. We have also established
stable relationships with a handful of key opinion leaders which
have participated in the promotion of products or services by
implementing advertising measures such as instant sharing of short
video clips and advertorials while taking advantage of the
popularity of mobile applications, seeking for cooperation and
opportunities in this area.
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In addition, big data is the treasure of our times. This is especially
the case when the 5G network will soon be launched, offering
faster speeds and more reliable connections on smartphones and
other devices than ever before; continued and increasing deluge of
data will drive greater demand for data analytic solution
everywhere. We shall develop and enhance our big data and
information technology infrastructure to improve the Group's
service capabilities particularly in online advertising business,
thereby increasing customer stability and market competitiveness.
We plan to develop and enhance our big data and information
technology infrastructure in order to organise data captured from
various internet platforms and our projects.

Meanwhile, we intend to continue to strengthen our market
position as an integrated advertising and marketing solution service
provider in the PRC and increase our market share. We shall increase
the coverage of our exclusive advertising resources. The Group
believes that increasing the coverage of our exclusive advertising
resources would improve our profitability. We intend to (i) increase
our presence in OOH resources (such as LCD flat-panel displays and
frame displays) through collaborating with property developers
and real estate management companies of commercial and
housing estates situated in premium locations in Beijing, Shanghai
and the Greater Bay Area; and (i) secure more exclusive licensing
arrangements for advertising spaces at public transportation hubs,
such as airports, high speed train stations and railway stations in the
Greater Bay Area, Beijing and Shanghai; and (iii) secure other online
advertising resources.

Besides, OOH advertising which we believe will remain as the
driving force in offline advertising in the next few years, shall be
injected with resources for development by acquiring exclusive
OOH resources. We shall take into consideration such factors as
resident population and urban passenger traffic in Beijing,
Shanghai, Guangzhou and Shenzhen as our selection criteria for
coverage of our OOH resources. The Group believes that not only
will the revenue increase with these investments, we can also
maintain cordial relationships with our major clients.

Looking forward, the Group remains cautiously positive towards
the advertising industry. The Group will keep pace with the market
development and further dedicate to the pursuit of excellence in
our service and strengthen our competitive edge to stand out in
the market.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

During the Year, the Group's revenue recorded a decrease of 28.2%
to approximately RMB150.1 million (2018: approximately RMB208.9
million), mainly driven by the decline in revenue generated from
television advertising, which was mainly due to the reduced
demand in 2019 for one of our top five customers while the
development of new customers required more time and efforts.
Such decrease was partially offset by the increase in our revenue
generated from our exclusive advertising resources, particularly our
advertising resources at Shenzhen Futian Transportation Hub which
recorded 100% utilization rate for the first half of 2019, however, the
public disorder in Hong Kong in the second half of 2019 resulted in
a decrease in the number of Hong Kong and PRC residents
travelling to and from Hong Kong and the PRC, thereby adversely
affected the utilization rates of our advertising resources at
Shenzhen Futian Transportation Hub in the second half of 2019.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales for the year ended 31 December 2019 amounted to
approximately RMB171.7 million (2018: RMB167.7 million). The
increase was mainly due to increase in license fee for our exclusive
resources resulted from the full period effect of Shenzhen Futian
Transportation Hub (commenced in April 2018).

Gross profit/loss and gross profit/loss margin

Gross loss amounted to approximately RMB21.6 million for the year
ended 31 December 2019 (2018: gross profit of RMB41.2 million).
Gross loss margin amounted to approximately 14.4% for the year
ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Gross profit margin 19.7%) which
was due to several customer contracts with a new customer where
relevant costs were incurred and recognized in 2019 while its
revenue was recognized in 2020.

For details of such change, please refer to the section headed “New
Business Cooperation in 2019 and Strengthening Corporate
Governance Measures”.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Other revenue

Other revenue amounted to approximately RMB1.2 million for the
year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: RMB2.8 million). The decrease
was mainly due to the government grants received in 2018 but not
in 2019.

Selling expenses

Selling expenses amounted to approximately RMB2.7 million for
the Year (2018: RMB3.3 million). The decrease was mainly to cost
reduction for the Group's general promotion.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses for the year ended 31 December 2019
amounted to approximately RMB28.0 million (2018: RMB14.0
million). The increase was mainly due to the listing expense of
RMB17.8 million incurred during the Year.

Finance costs

Finance costs amounted to approximately RMBO0.6 million for the
year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: RMBO.5 million). The finance
costsin 2019 and 2018 was relatively stable.

Income tax

We recorded income tax benefit of approximately RMB9.3 million in
2019 (2018: income tax expenses of RMB6.2 million), primarily due
to the loss before taxation in 2019 resulting from the decrease in
gross profit.

Net profit/loss

Net loss amounted to approximately RMB42.3 million for the Year
(2018: Net profit RMB18.5 million). It was mainly due to the decrease
in gross profit and the increase in administrative expenses.
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The Group's working capital and other capital requirements were
principally satisfied by cash generated from the Group's operations
and capital.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group's net current liability amounted
to approximately RMB16.1 million (as at 31 December 2018, the
Group’s net current assets was: approximately RMB60.7 million),
and its liquidity as represented by current ratio (calculated by
dividing current assets by current liabilities) was 0.9 times at 31
December 2019 (as at 31 December 2018: 2.2 times). Bank balances
amounted to approximately RMB28.9 million (as at 31 December
2018: approximately RMB36.0 million).

As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not have any outstanding
loan capital issued or agreed to be issued, bank overdrafts, loans,
debt securities, borrowings or other similar indebtedness, liabilities
under acceptance, acceptance credits, debentures, mortgages,
pledges, charges, finance leases or hire purchase commitments or
guarantees. As at 31 December 2019, the Company did not have
any banking facilities. Therefore, gearing ratio is not applicable to
our Group.

The Shares were successfully listed on GEM on the Listing Date.
There has been no changes in the capital structure of the Group
since then. The share capital of the Company only comprises of
ordinary shares.

As at the date of this report, the Company had 180,000,000 Shares
inissue.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

In December 2017, one of our suppliers (the plaintiff) launched a
lawsuit against Guangzhou Icon Culture Media Investment Co,,

Ltd.* (B INAR AL B IR IE E B R A F))(‘lcon Media”).

As at 31 December 2019, the Group's provision for litigation
compensation were approximately RMB1.8 million (as at 31
December 2018: approximately RMB1.7 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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The details regarding such litigation, has been described in
“Material Litigation” in Report of the Directors.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, the Group did
not have any significant capital commitment and contingent
liabilities.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

Individual companies within the Group has limited foreign currency
risk as most of the transactions are denominated in the same
currency as the functional currency of the operations in which they
relate.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES, JOINT VENTURES AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save for those mentioned under the section headed “History,
Reorganisation and Corporate Structure” in the prospectus dated
30 December 2019 (the “Prospectus”), the Group did not have any
significant investments, material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries, associates, joint ventures and capital assets during the
Year.

NEW BUSINESS COOPERATION IN 2019 AND
STRENGTHENING CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
MEASURES

In 2019, the Group commenced cooperation with a new customer,
which is an independent advertising company (the "New
Customer”). As an integrated multimedia advertising and
marketing solution provider, we were engaged by the New
Customer to advise on how to enhance the effectiveness of
advertisements in various resources covering TV advertising, online
advertising and OOH advertising for several of its ultimate
customers. Upon communication and understanding with the New
Customer, we offered specific advertising solution for the New
Customer in making adjustments to its existing advertising plans by
measuring the effectiveness of the New Customer’s advertisements
from August to December 2019 based on various assessment
criteria (the “Assessment Criteria”) including cost per rating point
(CPRP), gross rating point (GRP), cost per 1000 impressions (CPM)
using our Company’s big data analysis technique.
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Owing to the time constraints, the Group began providing services
to the New Customer before entering into a formal written
agreement with the New Customer. When our business department
subsequently entered into a written agreement with the New
Customer, a standard in-house template was adopted which failed to
accurately reflect the actual terms and conditions agreed with the
New Customer, including but not limited to the terms related to our
obligations to calculate, fulfill and monitor the Assessment Criteria
(“Customer Contracts’). The above arrangement with the New
customer resulted in legal uncertainty at the end of 2019 with respect
to the Group’s performance obligation and ability to collect the
consideration under the contract. However, a supplemental
agreement had been signed with the terms related to our obligations
to calculate, fulfill and monitor the Assessment Criteria in 2020.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had not confirmed with the
New Customer on the acceptance of the final results with improved
effectiveness for its original advertising plans which is an integral
part of the performance obligation of the contractual arrangement
with the New Customer.

In view of the above factors, no revenue was recorded in 2019 for the
arrangement with the New Customer, and the revenue of RMB61.3
million from the Customer Contracts was recognised in March 2020
when the performance obligations are fully satisfied. The
corresponding costs incurred of RMB39.6 million were recorded
within cost of sales in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in
2019. The Customer Contracts will therefore have a positive impact
on the Group’s financial performance for the year ending 31
December 2020.

As part of our measures to strengthen our ongoing corporate
governance, the Group have engaged an independent professional
service provider to examine the arrangement with the New
Customer. Based on its independent review, two major internal
control deficiencies were identified including (i) provision of
services commenced before written service contracts were entered
into; and (i) the actual terms and conditions were not accurately
reflected in the contract.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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To rectify and prevent the recurrence of such serious internal
control deficiencies, the audit committee of the Company (the
“Audit Committee”) recommended and the Company had taken
or will take the following actions and remedial measures:

1. The management will provide training for its employees,
including business operation, finance, legal and compliance
and internal audit, to strengthen their familiarity and
understanding on the internal controls for project acceptance
and execution;

2. A formal written service contract shall be signed and
approved by legal and compliance department by its best
effort before the commencement of service provision by the
business operation department. If in any special case, the
commencement of service started before the contract was
signed, the legal and compliance department shall process
the contract as soon as possible;

3. The draft of the written service contract for each project shall
be reviewed by the manager in charge in the business
operation department to ensure all material business terms
and conditions are reflected therein before obtaining the
approval by the head of legal and compliance department
and the finance department for formal signing;

4. Upon signing of any contract approved by legal and
compliance department, the contract must be sent to the
finance department within a week for review to ensure proper
accounting treatment of any new business arrangement;

5. Ifthere is any subsequent variation or revision to any material
terms of the agreement, the business operation department
shall liaise with the legal and compliance department to
arrange for the signing of supplemental agreements with
customers or suppliers to ensure sufficient contractual
protection of the Group;

6.  Records of all service agreements shall be kept and
maintained in a proper manner, and shall be made available
for perusal and checking whenever it is requested by the legal
and compliance department, the finance department and any
persons authorised by the Board; and
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7. The Group will set up internal audit department to monitor
the effectiveness and adequacy of the internal control
measures, and make recommendation and report to the
Audit Committee on a regular and timely basis.

The implementation of such remedial measures will be further
reviewed by the Audit Committee.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The risk management process includes risk identification, risk
evaluation, risk management measures and risk control and review.
The management is entrusted with duties to identify, analyze,
evaluate, respond, monitor and communicate risks associated with
any activity, function or process within its scope of responsibility
and authority. It endeavours to evaluate and compare the level of
risk against predetermined acceptable level of risk. For risk control
and monitoring, it involves making decisions regarding which risks
are acceptable and how to address those that are not. The
management will develop contingency plans for possible loss
scenarios. Incidents and other situations involving loss or near-loss
will be investigated and properly documented as part of the effort
to manage risks.

Exposure to business risk arises in the normal course of the Group’s
business, the business risk the Group may encounter had been
described in the Prospectus section “Risk Factors”.

Exposure to credit and liquidity risks arises in the normal course of
the Group’s business. The Group's exposure to these risks and the
financial risk management policies and practices used by the Group
to manage these risks are described below.

(i) CreditRisk

The Group's exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents and restricted deposits with a bank is limited
because the counterparties are banks with high-credit-quality,
for which the Group considers to have low credit risk.
Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures
to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis. The
Group does not provide any guarantees which would expose
the Group to credit risk.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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(ii) Liquidity Risk
The Group's policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants, to
ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and
adequate committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.

Details of the risks mentioned above are set out in Note 24 of the
consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND

Pursuant to the written resolutions dated 30 April 2019 passed by
the shareholders of a subsidiary of the Group, a dividend of RMB30
million was declared, and such amount was fully paid by the
internal resources of the Group in August 2019.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the Year.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
During the Year, the Group has no pledge of assets.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as those disclosed in the Prospectus, the Group currently has
no other plan for material investments and capital assets.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises employees as one of the valuable assets of
the Group and the Group strictly complies with the labour laws and
regulations in Hong Kong, PRC and other relevant jurisdictions and
regularly reviews the existing staff benefits for improvement.

The Group provides good quality services to the customers and
maintains a good relationship with them.
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The Group is able to establish cordial and long-term business
relationship with the major customers. The Group also maintains
effective communication and develops healthy relationship with
the suppliers.

During the Year, there was no material dispute or disagreement
between the Group and its customers or its suppliers.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognizes the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and that the risks of non-compliance with
such requirements. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge,
information and belief, and having made all reasonable enquiries,
save as disclosed in the section headed “Contingent Liabilities”, the
Group has complied with all relevant laws and regulations in Hong
Kong, PRC and other relevant jurisdictions in all material respects
during the Year.

The Group also complies with the requirements under the GEM
Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571
of the laws of Hong Kong (the “SFO") for the disclosure of
information and corporate governance.

USE OF PROCEEDS AND COMPARISON OF BUSINESS
OBJECTIVES WITH ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS

As the actual amount of the listing expenses is higher than the
estimated amount of the listing expenses set out in the Prospectus.
The Net Proceeds was approximately HK$30.6 million,which was
less than that set out in the Prospectus and the allotment results
announcement of the Company dated 13 January 2020. As the
Shares were listed on the Listing Date, no material changes have
been occurred in respect of the business objectives as set out in
the Prospectus, for the period from the Latest Practicable Date (as
defined in the Prospectus), and up to the date of this annual report.

Accordingly, the Net Proceeds would be applied on a pro-rata basis
in accordance with the proposed purposes set out in the
Prospectus.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEETRED

The table below sets forth the breakdown of the intended use and

TREFINAF IR A RPTFFIFBRRE

the timeline for utilisation of the Net Proceeds as at the date of the — FA iR BAAH & &) B i EI4R -
annual report:
Intended Approximate
use of percentage of
Net Proceeds Net Proceeds
FEsERE ERERE
ReRz BHEIL
HK$'000 %
FET BOlt
Increase coverage of our exclusive BBEIENERAER
OO0H and online advertising EMNEERINREL
resources by acquiring ELEERNESHE
additional resources 16,722 546
Expand our business coverage in BARMNEBEER
growing regions and spectrums ERPHE REAR
of service offerings REREEE 8,882 290
Enhance big data platforms T%?U(%UF?A 1,960 64
General working capital REEES 3,063 100
30,627 1000
Given the share offer was completed after 31 December 2019, the  EER PR D B E R 2019F 12 A31 B 2148 5%

implementation plan as set out in the section headed “Statement
of Business Objectives and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus
would commence in 2020.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

EERSNEEEBRER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chow Eric Tse To (B ¥ /&
founder and chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”). He joined
the Group in June 2009 and is mainly responsible for the overall
strategic planning and business direction of the Group. He was
appointed as a Director on 24 April 2019 and re-designated as an
executive Director and Chairman on 31 May 2019

), aged 38, is an executive Director,

Mr. Chow has over 13 years of experience in the media industry. From
July 2006 to May 2009, he served as the executive director of Australian
OB M # R $R), where he was responsible for
formulation and implementation of operational and investment plans
of the company. In January 2010, he joined KINGOLD Group Co,, Ltd.*
(5 & & B B R 2 7)) ('KINGOLD"), which is a majority-controlled
company (within the meaning of the GEM Listing Rules) and served as
the vice president of the real estate department, responsible for
assisting the president of KINGOLD's real estate department. In May
2014, Mr. Chow was promoted to director and chief executive officer of
KINGOLD, where he is responsible for the overall strategic planning,
business direction and management of the operations of KINGOLD.

New Express Daily*

Mr. Chow obtained his bachelor's degree of design in interior and
spatial design from the University of Technology Sydney, Australia
in March 2011.

Mr. Chow is a controlling shareholder as prescribed by the GEM
Listing Rules of the Company (the “Controlling Shareholders"), as
well as a director and the sole shareholder of Shining Icon (BVI)
Limited (“Shining lcon”) and Sense One Limited (“Sense One”),
both our Controlling Shareholders.

Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Chow has not held any directorship in
any other public companies the securities of which are or have
been listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in
the past three years.

BFERLE 385K BWITESE - BIIFA
RESFEEXF(ERFE]) - ER2009F6 H
MAAREE  FEEHBEARNEEAEBEE
MBI MEB M - 20195 4 A24 A
EEAEEE - WHR20194%5 A31 HERAT
RBPTESRIRE -

BEERRBITERED 3FLR - R
20065 7 B = 200995 B » 18 (TN ET
RBHOHITES - BEHIEREEZAT
B EERIRERFE o R 20105F 1 AMMA
BEEEERAR(BE) (BHEEXRE
FrHlIEAR (EERGEM EMRA)) -

WEEEHERFIREE -  AEWES
B EBRE - BEER2014F5 A%
FHERBENEERATEE  AEBEW
BEEBRE EHHRREEER -

B ER 2011 F3 AERMNBERHTKE
HX?%ZW&IF? uXu—I_'aiH'f_L °

B AR GEM _E TR BIFTET AR Ay 42
ARA R ([#RABR R 1) + BA K Shing Icon (BVI)
Limited ([ Shing lcon ]) X Sense One
Limited ([ Sense One |) (¥ & 3 {f & 1% i%
PR ) B E S AHRME AR o

BRAXFRBEEI  AERENBE=FA
BN A A D RER B IEBIMEME
ZFMis LM EAEM AR A RFETEN
EERA -

019 FER RUXARREMERAT | 25



Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

ESNEREEEREEN

Ms. Cai Xiaoshan (£2BE ), aged 42, is an executive Director. She
joined the Group in July 2016 and is mainly responsible for the
overall strategic planning, business direction and management of
the operations of the Group. She was appointed as a Director on 31
May 2019 and re-designated as an executive Director on the same
day.

Ms. Cai has over 18 years of experience in the media industry.

Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Cai served in certain managerial roles
in several private companies in the PRC. From June 2001 to March
2005, she served as general manager of the marketing department
of Guangdong New Express* (& B ¥ 1R #R #L), where she was
responsible for formulating business policies, marketing promotion
and business development. From February 2006 to January 2007,
she served as deputy general manager cum general manager of
the sales department of Guangdong Yaxin Broadcasting Co., Ltd.*
(BRI ULEEABR A F]), where she was mainly responsible
for its business operations and daily management. From February
2007 to December 2015, she was the senior vice president in the
sales department of Visionchina Media Group Co,, Ltd* (Z3{E &
% B A R 2 A)) (previously known as V|S|onch|na D|g|ta| Mobile
Television Co,, Ltd. (ERBTBHEEARA
company controlled by Visionchina Media Inc., a company listed on
NASDAQ (NASDAQ ticker: VISN) from December 2007 to April 2017,
where she was responsible for formulation and implementation of
development strategies and sales management of the South China
regional markets.

), which was a

Ms. Cai obtained a master’'s degree in business administration from
South China University of Technology, the PRC in December 2016.

Ms. Cai is also the sole director and the sole shareholder of Focus
Wonder Limited (“"Focus Wonder"), one of our Substantial
Shareholders (as prescribed by the GEM Listing Rules).

Save as disclosed herein, Ms. Cai has not held any directorship in
any other public companies the securities of which are or have
been listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in
the past three years.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Lau Tung Hei Derek ( 2158 ), aged 37, is an executive Director.
He joined the Group in July 2009 as general manager and was
promoted to director in July 2016. Mr. Lau is mainly responsible for the
overall strategic planning, business development and administration
of the Group. He was appointed as a Director on 31 May 2019 and re-
designated as an executive Director on the same day.

Mr. Lau obtained his bachelor's degree in industrial design from The
University of New South Wales, Australia in May 2009.

Mr. Lau is also the sole director and the sole shareholder of Master
Connection Limited ("Master Connection’), one of the Shareholders.

Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Lau has not held any directorship in
any other public companies the securities of which are or have
been listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in
the past three years.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

ESNEREEEREEN

Ms. Liang Wei (3#), aged 48, is an executive Director, chief executive
officer (the "Chief Executive Officer’) and the compliance officer. She
joined the Group in June 2017 and is mainly responsible for the overall
strategy implementation, business development and management of
the operations of the Group. She was appointed as a Director on 31 May
2019 and re-designated as an executive Director on the same day.

Ms. Liang has over 20 years of experience in business management.
From January 1992 to March 1996, she served as a programmer in
China Shipbuilding Industry Corporation 714 Institute* (4 B4 4
ETEBERQFE L —MIAZLAT), where she was responsible for
the construction and maintenance of the company’s database.
From October 1995 to December 2003, she worked at the strategic
marketing department of Yonyou Software Co,, Ltd* (B & BX{4R%
R B R R F]). From April 2006 to October 2016, she served as the
senior vice president of Visionchina Media Group Co., Ltd* (ZE43./&
HEEEHBR A A]) (previously known as Visionchina Digital Mobile
Television Co,, Ltd* (ER B FHEEEREGRE 2 7)), which was a
company controlled by Visionchina Media Inc., a company listed on
NASDAQ (NASDAQ ticker: VISN) and was delisted in April 2017,
where she was responsible for the formulation of development
strategy, establishment of sales management system and policies,
market analysis, product promotion, and supervising
advertisements in major sales region. From October 2016 to March
2017, she served as the vice president of Shanghai Conservation
Advertising Co,, Ltd* (/8 5F 18 & % B IR A 7)), where she was
responsible for the formulation of project management system and
managing costs and revenue.

Ms. Liang obtained a master’s degree in international business
administration from the University of Northumbria at Newcastle,
United Kingdom in November 2005.

Save as disclosed herein, Ms. Liang has not held any directorship in
any other public companies the securities of which are or have
been listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in
the past three years.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Liu Biao (2I1E), aged 40, is an executive Director. He joined
the Group in July 2009 and is mainly responsible for the overall
business development and sales management of the Group. He
was appointed as a Director on 31 May 2019 and re-designated as
an executive Director on the same day.

Mr. Liu has 19 years of experience in sales and business
management in the media industry. From June 2000 to December
2006, he served as sales manager at Guangzhou Aishidai Advertising
Co., Ltd* (B M B E 4 B R A 7)), where his duties were
developing and implementing efficient sales network and
maintaining customer relationships. From August 2007 to January
2008, he served as the planning manager at Ego Information
Technology Group Co, Ltd* (BMBEEE ERHEEBBRAR),
where he was responsible for the planning, organisation and
implementation of marketing activities, product development,
analysing sales and market development.

Mr. Liu obtained his diploma in chain management from
Guangzhou Jinrong Specialist College* (M & B EH(E £t ), the
PRC in July 2004.

Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Liu has not held any directorship in
any other public companies the securities of which are or have
been listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in
the past three years.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

ESNEREEEREEN

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lee Siu Hang Foster (Z=JK#), aged 39, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 11 December 2019. He is
responsible for supervising the Group’s compliance, corporate
governance matters and providing independent judgment and
advice to the Group.

Mr. Lee has more than 16 years of experience in the accounting and
finance industry. From September 2002 to June 2004, he worked as
an accountant at KPMG in Hong Kong and subsequently from July
2004 to June 2005, he worked as a senior accountant in the audit
and risk advisory service division at KPMG in Sydney, Australia. From
June 2005 to March 2011, he was the associate vice president of
structured finance at GE Capital. From April 2011 to May 2012, he
also served as the assistant vice president of syndicated finance at
the institutional banking group of DBS Bank Ltd in Hong Kong,
where he was responsible for the development of transaction
structure and assessment of loan distribution risk. From May 2012
to October 2017, he served as senior vice president, head of
syndicated finance department of China Minsheng Banking Corp,,
Ltd., where he was responsible for departmental management,
including business planning and recruitment of departmental staff.
From May 2016 to October 2017, he also served as the director of
Asia Pacific Loan Market Association Limited. From October 2017 to
April 2018, he was the vice president cum chief investment officer
of Carnival Group (Hong Kong) Holdings Limited, a subsidiary of
Carnival Group International Holdings Limited, a company listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 996). From April 2018 to
September 2019, he has been serving as the managing director in
the financing department of Fortune Fountain Capital Limited,
where he is responsible for the group’s overseas equity and debt
financing business, formulating financial strategies. Since April 2020,
he has been serving as the senior director in the credit investment
& corporate finance department of GAW Capital Advisors Limited,
where he is responsible for provision of private credit in the real
estate market. Mr. Lee has been a certified practicing accountant
and a member of CPA Australia since September 2005. Since
December 2018, Mr. Lee has been a Type 1 (dealing in securities)
licensed representative and he has been licensed to carry on
regulated activities for Cachet Asset Management Limited since
September 2019.

Mr. Lee obtained his bachelor’s degree in commerce from The
University of New South Wales, Australia in April 2002.

Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Lee has not held any directorship in
any other public companies the securities of which are or have
been listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in
the past three years.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

Ms. Tam Hon Shan Celia (FE/Z ), aged 47, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 11 December 2019. She is
responsible for supervising the Group’s compliance, corporate
governance matters and providing independent judgment and
advice to the Group.

Ms. Tam has nearly 25 years of experience in the accounting and
finance field. From August 1994 to October 1997, she was an
accountant at DraftWorldwide Ltd, where she was responsible for
managing financial matters. From October 1997 to May 1999, she
also worked as an accountant at Baker Norton Asia Ltd, where she
was mainly responsible for financial matters. From June 1999 to
November 2000, she was a senior accountant at World Pioneer Ltd,
where she was responsible for setting up the accounting system
and managing the accounting functions including preparation of
financial forecasts and management reports, and performing
analysis. From November 2000 to March 2001, she was the financial
accountant and subsequently from March 2001 to October 2003,
she served as the finance and administration manager at Infoserve
Technology Hong Kong Ltd, where she was responsible for the
management of finance, administration and human resources
matters. From August 2004 to March 2007, she was the finance
manager and subsequently the group finance manager at Heal
Force Development Limited, where she was responsible for
compliance and management of the group finance department.
From April 2007 to September 2013, she was the head of
compliance and corporate affairs of NetDragon Websoft (Hong
Kong) Limited and the company secretary and authorised
representative of NetDragon Websoft Holdings Limited (previously
known as NetDragon Websoft Inc.), a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0777). From October 2013
to February 2014, she was the vice president of management
centre of 91 Wireless Websoft Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Baidu Inc, a company listed on NASDAQ (NASDAQ ticker: BIDU),
where she was responsible for supervising and managing the
finance, legal, human resources, internal control, government
relationship and administration departments. From September
2014 to March 2018, she was an independent non-executive
director and chairlady of the audit committee and member of the
nomination committee of Zhejiang Tengy Environmental
Technology Co,, Ltd., a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1527). Ms. Tam is a member of The
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since April
2002 and a fellow of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants since November 2006.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

ESNEREEEREEN

Ms. Tam obtained a bachelor's degree in business accounting from
University of Lincolnshire and Humberside, United Kingdom in April
2000, and a master’s degree in educational counselling from The
Education University of Hong Kong in November 2018.

Save as disclosed herein, Ms. Tam has not held any directorship in
any other public companies the securities of which are or have
been listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in
the past three years.

Mr. Tian Tao (&), aged 62, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 11 December 2019. He is responsible for
supervising the Group’s compliance, corporate governance matters
and providing independent judgment and advice to the Group.

From February 1999 to November 2015, Mr. Tian was the
vice general manager of CVSCTNS Research Co Ltd (R & T35/ 35
A% 7 A IR A 7). From November 2015 to June 2017, he was the
president of Zhongguang Xincheng Information Technology Co.,
Led* (R B #1E BRI AR5 B R 2 7). From July 2017 to
August 2018, he was the president of the Beijing office of Nielsen-
CCData Media Research Services Co., Ltd* (JE B8 #r 48954 25 /T &%
AR A BR A )4t X5 A F]). Since September 2018, he has been
serving as the president of Zhongguang Rongxin Media Consulting

(Beijing) Co, Ltd.* (FEBEHEN 7K (AL ) BRAA)).

Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Tian has not held any directorship in
any other public companies the securities of which are or have
been listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in
the past three years.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Liang Anqi (R % ), aged 33, joined the Group in September
2017 and was promoted to chief supervisor (online and
entertainment) in May 2019. Mr. Liang is primarily responsible for
the intellectual property matters and entertainment business of the
Group.

Mr. Liang has over 10 years of experience in the media industry.
From April 2009 to March 2015, he worked at Phoenix Legend
Group Of IMC* (J& % Bl 2\ E 57 & & B R 2 7)), where he was
responsible for media strategic planning. From April 2015 to
October 2016, he was employed by Shenzhen Fangsheng Human
Resources Service Co, Ltd* (BER A BANERRBBRAF).
From October 2016 to September 2017, he was the deputy
strategic director of the brand business department of EJAM
GROUP Co, Ltd* (S EEESE R EE R KD BRAF]), a company
whose shares are quoted on the NEEQ (stock code: 834498), where
he was responsible for promoting business projects, formulating
promotion strategy and organising media and internal resources.

Mr. Liang completed a course on power plant thermal operation
and installation held by Guangdong University of Technology,
Guangzhou, the PRC and graduated in June 2008.

Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Liang has not held any directorship in
any other public companies the securities of which are or have
been listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in
the past three years.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

ESNEREEEREEN

Mr. Zhu Yifan (& —1R), aged 32, joined the Group in April 2020
as Board secretary and investment vice president ("VP”). Mr. Zhu is
mainly responsible for the listing compliance, strategic investment,
and capital operation of the Group.

Mr. Zhu started his career in PwC New York since his graduation in
2011, In PwC, Mr. Zhu had experienced in both audit and tax,
serving the top-tier hedge funds and private equities in Wall street.
From May 2017 to April 2020, Mr. Zhu returned to China and served
as assistant to CFO and head of investment department in Forgame
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 484), and responsible for corporate governance, investment
and M&A activities. Mr. Zhu was very experienced in investment of
internet especially gaming industry.

Mr. Zhu completed his bachelor and master degrees in accounting
in State University of New York in Binghamon, and he obtained his
CPA license in New York State of the United States of America.

Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Zhu has not held any directorship in
any other public companies the securities of which are or have
been listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in
the past three years.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Sir Kwok Siu Man KR (“Sir Seaman Kwok”) (283K XX ) was appointed
as one of our joint company secretaries on 30 May 2019. With effect
from the Listing, Ms. Li Zhiyan acted as a joint company secretary
with Sir Seaman Kwok till her resignation on 29 February 2020. Sir
Seaman Kwok then remains as the sole company secretary of the
Company with effect from 29 February 2020.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

Sir Seaman Kwok is presently an executive director and head of
corporate secretarial of Boardroom Corporate Services (HK) Limited
("‘Boardroom”) and a director of Boardroom Share Registrars (HK)
Limited, the Hong Kong branch share registrar of the Company. He
has over 30 years' legal, corporate secretarial and management
experience and he is currently the company secretary or a joint
company secretary of over 20 other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Sir Seaman Kwok has been an independent non-
executive director of Tak Lee Machinery Holdings Limited (12 F#
WA B A R A 8]), a company listed on GEM (stock code: 8142),
since June 2017. He was an independent non-executive director of
Grand Ocean Advanced Resources Company Limited (3A/8 & &
JRB R X A]) (stock code: 65), a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, from February 2015 to February 2016. Sir
Seaman Kwok is a fellow member of each of The Chartered
Governance Institute ("CGI") (formerly The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators) in England, The Hong Kong Institute
of Chartered Secretaries ("HKICS"), The Institute of Financial
Accountants in England, the Institute of Public Accountants in
Australia, The Association of Hong Kong Accountants and The
Hong Kong Institute of Directors, a Chartered Governance
Professional of both CGl and HKICS, and a member of the Hong
Kong Securities and Investment Institute. He also possesses
professional qualifications in arbitration, taxation, financial planning
and human resources management. He has passed the Common
Professional Examinations in England and Wales and obtained a
professional diploma in company secretaryship and administration
and a bachelor’s degree of arts from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University (formerly the Hong Kong Polytechnic) and a post-
graduate diploma in laws from the Manchester Metropolitan
University in England. In addition, he was a council member and a
chief examiner of the international qualifying examinations of the
HKICS. Further, he was named in the “International WHO's WHO of
Professionals” in 1999 and was conferred as a Knight of Rizal of the
Philippines in mid-June 2019.
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Report of the Directors

ESEWRE

The Board is pleased to present this Directors’ report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries are mainly engaged in provision of integrated
multimedia advertising and marketing solution services based in
Guangzhou, the PRC and offer advertising and marketing solutions
covering (i) traditional offline media including both OOH and
indoor advertising platforms; (i) online media; and (iii) PR, marketing
campaigns and other services to our customers comprising brand
owners, state-owned entities in the PRC, advertising agencies and
government authorities. Our integrated multimedia advertising and
marketing solution service primarily focused on the formulation of
advertising strategies for our customers, and identifying and
sourcing the most appropriate advertising resources and formats to
maximise the effectiveness of our customers’ advertisements.

An analysis of the principal activities of the Group during the Year is
set out in the section headed "Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this annual report and Note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The environmental policies and performance, compliance with
relevant laws and regulations and relationships with employees will
be disclosed in a standalone environmental, social and governance
report (the "ESG Report”), which will be published in or before mid
of August 2020.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622
of the Laws of Hong Kong), including a discussion of the principal
risks and uncertainties facing the Group, indication of likely future
developments in the Group’s businesses and other relevant
information, can be found in the “Management Discussion and
Analysis”. Such discussion forms part of this “Report of the
Directors”.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the audited consolidated results and the assets and
liabilities of the Group for 2017 to 2019, as extracted from the
audited consolidated financial statements, is set out on page 184 of
this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES ISSUED

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company for the
Year and details of the shares issued during the year ended are set
out in Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 14 to
the consolidated financial statements.

KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group is committed to operate in a sustainable manner while
balancing the interests of its various stakeholders including
customers, suppliers and employees. Through regular stakeholder
engagement via different channels, the stakeholders are
encouraged to give their opinions regarding the environmental,
social and governance policies of the Group. The Group maintains
strong relationships with its employees and offers them with safe
working environments. The Group has enhanced cooperation with
its suppliers and has provided high quality products and services to
its customers so as to ensure sustainable development.

Further details are set out in the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” section of this annual report and the ESG Report to be
published later.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to contributing to the sustainability of the
environment and is committed to becoming an environmentally-
friendly corporation. Details of our environmental, social and
governance policies and performance during the Year shall be
disclosed in the and the ESG Report to be published later.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

Save as disclosed in “Material Litigation” in this section, the Group
has complied in all material aspects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group. During the Year, there was no material
breach of, or non-compliance, with applicable laws and regulations
by the Group.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or
the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company
to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

DEBENTURE ISSUED

The Group did not issue any debenture since the Listing Date and
up to the date of this annual report.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for disclosed in “Share Option Scheme” as set out in this
section, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the
Group, or existed during the Year.

DIVIDENDS

In April 2019, a subsidiary of our Group declared a dividend in the
sum of RMB30.0 million to the then shareholders, and such amount
was fully paid by the Group’s internal resources in August 2019.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the Year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company during
the Year are set out in Note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 December 2019, the Company'’s reserves available for
distribution,calculated in accordance with the Cayman Islands
Companies Law, amounted to approximately RMB33.8 million. The
amount of approximately RMB33.8 million mainly includes the
Company’s share premium account of approximately RMB48.7
million and accumulated losses of approximately RMB14.9 million
in aggregate as at 31 December 2019, which may be distributed
provided that immediately following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a
position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for 81.1% of the total sales for the year and sales to the
largest customer included therein amounted to 52.3%. Purchases
from the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for 66.5% of the
total purchases for the year and purchase from the largest supplier
included therein amounted to 23.8%.

Report of the Directors

ETERE

PR REH 177 5

BrANEIPTEL [BERHERT ) ZHEEIN - B
REE  REBWES] K17 B (TR IR
et -

;5

R2019F 48 » ZEBZ —KHBRRIM
HER BRRERKEAEARE0H
B BZZ2EHON2019F8 AiE AN
EERNPERBELN -

EEeTEBRNAFEZ RS

o] 2 Tk fe

RAER - AR TMEEEE
BB BRI -

SRR

M2019F 128318 RIBEFASEHS AT
FEETE  ARAIA D IRREEAORARE
BIBEBEBTL - ZEFHNARK3B8EETH
CREITEREARRAFN2019F12A31H
2R HEBOARKEATAETLLEE
BOARB140BE T 2SI HD
K EBEEEZEORKREERR  ARF
HFEESEE AT AR EKBEFIHNE
jﬁ% o

ITREFEFRHER

REEFEREAR MAKREAARER ZHE
HEEHERTES1% MEAFRMERE
P2 HEE /R523% « AR E R AMH
R cBEHFEBEEFECS%  MHE
PSR ER 2B EIG/238% °

019 FER RUXARBEMERAT | 39



Report of the Directors

EEERE

Among the five largest customers and suppliers, Focus Media
Holding Ltd. (9 R fE AR 2 7), Chizhong Advertising Co.,, Ltd.
(Bt R E 4 B IR A A]), Ningbo Fen Shi Advertising Co,, Ltd. ()
DR E S A BR A &), which are all subsidiaries of Focus Media
Information Technology Co,, Ltd. (7 RIBEIE ERMR D ER A
7)), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock
code: 002027), which are collectively known as the “Focus Media
Group” is both our customers and suppliers. Save for Focus Media
Group, none of our top five suppliers was our customers during the
Year.

The Directors confirm that none of the Directors, their respective
close associates or any Shareholder (who or which to the best
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of our issued
Shares as at the date of this annual report), has or had any interest
in any of our five largest suppliers or customers for the Year.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had 43 employees. They are all
located in Guangzhou, the PRC. The number of employees
employed by the Group varies from time to time depending on
need. To capture the growth of the online advertising, the Group
has recruited additional employees who have the expertise in
online advertising services. In addition, members of the senior
management team had exerted efforts on the development of the
Group's online advertising services.

Employees’ remuneration is determined based on their
responsibilities, qualifications, performance, experience and
seniority. The Group's standard remuneration package may include
salary, discretionary bonus, benefits in kind and incentive. The
remuneration policy and package of the Group’s employees are
periodically reviewed.
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Compensation of key executives of the Group is reviewed by the
Company’s remuneration committee which is based on the Group’s
performance and the executives’ respective contributions to the
Group.

The remuneration of Directors and members of senior
management is determined based on the duties, responsibilities,
experience, skills and time commitment, as well as the performance
of the Group.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 11 December
2019 (the “Share Option Scheme”) as incentive to Directors and
eligible employees, details of the scheme are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme” below.

The total remuneration cost incurred by the Group for the Year was
RMB8.6 million.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group was
entered into or existed during the Year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Material related party transactions entered into by the Group for
the Year are disclosed in Note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements. Those related party transactions which constituted
connected transactions/continuing connected transactions under
the GEM Listing Rules upon Listing are set out in the paragraph
headed “Connected Transactions” below.

The Directors confirm that all related party transactions during the
year ended 31 December 2019 were conducted after arm’s length
negotiations, fair and reasonable, on normal commercial terms and
were not more favourable to those offered by the Group to other
independent third parties for transactions of similar nature.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Non-Exempted Continuing Connected Transactions
(IICCTII)

(1)

Provision of advertising services by the Group to
KINGOLD and its subsidiaries (together, “KINGOLD
Group”)

The Group has been providing media advertising services to
KINGOLD Group as part of its usual course of business since
December 2014 and throughout the Track Record Period.

KINGOLD, a limited liability company established under the
laws of the PRC, is a majority controlled company indirectly
held by Mr. Chau Chak Wing (JE)Z£8) (“Mr. Chau"), father of
Mr. Chow who is our Controlling Shareholder, executive
Director and Chairman of our Board. As such, each of the
members of KINGOLD Group is an associate of Mr. Chow and
thus a connected person of our Company under Chapter 20
of the GEM Listing Rules. Mr. Chow is also one of the directors
of KINGOLD.

Our scope of services includes but not limited to, sourcing of
advertising resources, placement of advertisements, strategic
planning, graphic designs, news editorial and content
advertorial in relation to brand promotion of hotels,
restaurants, residential and commercial properties developed
by KINGOLD Group. Such advertisements were placed on
various online platforms such as web portals, social media
and apps, namely Tencent Da Yue Wang (#& & K & #),
Souhu Jiaodian (#2 M £ 24), Wangyi Fangchan (885 & &),
WeChat, Xiaohongshu (/)» 4L &) and Baidu App; and media
resources such as LCD flat-panel displays and frame displays
located at elevators and lobbies in commercial buildings
owned by independent third parties and shopping malls,
commercial buildings and housing estates owned by
KINGOLD Group.
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(2)

On 16 December 2019, the Group entered into an advertising
services framework agreement (the “"KINGOLD Group
Advertising Services Framework Agreement’) with
KINGOLD (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) for a term
commencing from the Listing Date and ending on 31
December 2022 (subject to early termination pursuant to the
terms of the KINGOLD Group Advertising Services Framework
Agreement). Pursuant to the KINGOLD Group Advertising
Services Framework Agreement, the Group will provide
multimedia advertising services, including but not limited to
media advertising services, advertising materials production
services and event organisation and planning services (the
“Advertising Services”) to KINGOLD Group.

The KINGOLD Group Advertising Services Framework
Agreement is a framework agreement which provides the
mechanism for the provision of the Advertising Services
described therein. Separate agreements will be entered into
between both parties to provide for the terms and conditions
of the specific transactions in accordance with the principal
terms set out in the KINGOLD Group Advertising Services
Framework Agreement.

Having taken into consideration the historical service fees
charged by the Group to KINGOLD Group, the proposed
annual caps in relation to the provision of the Advertising
Services under the KINGOLD Group Advertising Services
Framework Agreement for each of the three years ending 31
December 2022 will not exceed RMB22 million.

Provision of advertising services by the Group to
Guangdong Chaohuang Restaurant Co., Ltd.* ( & 5 /#
E R FER 2 7 )(“Chaohuang Restaurant”)

The Group began to provide multimedia advertising services
to Chaohuang Restaurant in August 2013 as part of the
Group's ordinary and usual course of business.

(2)
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Chaohuang Restaurant, a limited liability company established
under the laws of the PRC, is a majority-controlled company
indirectly held by Mr. Chau, father of Mr. Chow who is our
Controlling Shareholder, executive Director and Chairman of
our Board. As such, Chaohuang Restaurant is an associate of
Mr. Chow and thus a connected person of our Company
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. Mr. Chow is also
one of the directors of Chaohuang Restaurant.

On 16 December 2019, the Group entered into an advertising
services framework agreement (the “Chaohuang Restaurant
Advertising Services Framework Agreement”) with
Chaohuang Restaurant for a term commencing from the
Listing Date and ending on 31 December 2022 (subject to
early termination pursuant to the terms of the Chaohuang
Restaurant Advertising Services Framework Agreement).
Pursuant to the Chaohuang Restaurant Advertising Services
Framework Agreement, the Group will provide multimedia
advertising services, including but not limited to media
advertising services, advertising materials production services
and event organisation and planning services (the
“Advertising Service”) to Chaohuang Restaurant.

The Chaohuang Restaurant Advertising Services Framework
Agreement is a framework agreement which provides the
mechanism for the provision of the Advertising Services
described therein. Separate agreements will be entered into
between both parties to provide for the terms and conditions
of the specific transactions in accordance with the principal
terms set out in the Chaohuang Restaurant Advertising
Services Framework Agreement.

Having taken into consideration the historical service fees
charged by the Group to Chaohuang Restaurant, the
proposed annual caps in relation to the provision of the
Advertising Services under the Chaohuang Restaurant
Advertising Services Framework Agreement for each of the
three years ending 31 December 2022 will not exceed
RMB200,000.
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For details on the terms of the above the continuing
connected transactions, please refer to “NON-EXEMPT
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS" in the section
headed "Continuing Connected Transactions” to the
Prospectus.

Confirmation of Independent Non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
above continuing connected transactions and confirmed
such transactions have been entered into: (1) in the ordinary
and usual course of business of the Group; and (2) on normal
or better commercial terms, fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

Save as disclosed above, the Company had no connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions which fell
to be disclosed in accordance with the provisions under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules in relation to the
disclosure of connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of
this annual report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Chow Eric Tse To
(Chairman) (appointed on 24 April 2019)
Ms. Cai Xiaohan (appointed on 31 May 2019)
Mr. Lau Tung Hei Derek (appointed on 31 May 2019)
Ms. Liang Wei (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 31 May 2019)
Mr. Liu Biao (appointed on 31 May 2019)
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Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Lee Siu Hung Foster (appointed on 11 December 2019)
Ms. Tam Hon Shan Celia (appointed on 11 December 2019)
Mr. Tian Tao (appointed on 11 December 2019)

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Group are set out in the section headed "Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 25 to 35 of this annual report.

In accordance with Articles 108(a) of the articles of association of
the Company (the "Articles”), at each annual general meeting one-
third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a
multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-
third) shall retire from office by rotation. In accordance with Article
112 of the Articles , any director appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy during the Year shall hold office until the first
general meeting of the Company after his/her appointment and be
subject to re-election at such meeting.

Accordingly, all Directors will retire from office at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Articles and subject to the applicable laws and
regulations, every Director shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they
or any of them may incur or sustain in or about the execution of
their duty in their offices. Such permitted indemnity provision has
been in force for the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
on 11 December 2019 with the Company for an initial term of three
years commencing on the Listing Date, which has no fixed term
and can be terminated by either party giving not less than three
months’ notice in writing to the other party.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company on 11
December 2019 for an initial term of one year commencing on the
Listing Date, which can be terminated by either party giving not
less than three months’ notice in writing to the other party.

The term of service of a Director is subject to the provisions on
retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the Articles.

Save as aforesaid, none of our Directors has or is proposed to have
a service contract or appointment letter with our Company or any
of our subsidiaries other than contracts or letters expiring or
determinable by the employer within one year without the
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors'’ fees are subject to shareholders’s approval at general
meetings. Other remuneration are determined by the board
directors’ duties, responsibility and performance and the results of
the group as well as the recommendations of the remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”). Further details of
Director's remuneration and the five highest-paid individuals are
set out in the note 8 and note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 139 to 141 of the annual report.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

Details of retirement benefits plans of the Group as at 31 December
2019, if any are set out in Note 6(b) to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.
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CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries had entered into any contract of significance
with the Controlling Shareholders or their respective close
associates, or any contract of significance for the provision of
services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by the Controlling
Shareholders or their respective close associates, during the Year.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Shining Icon, Sense One and Mr. Chow Eric Tse To (“Mr. Chow"),
who are the Controlling Shareholders (each a “Covenantor” and
collectively, the “Covenantors”) entered into the deed of non-
competition in favour of our Company (for ourselves and as trustee
for each of our subsidiaries) (the “Deed of Non-Competition”).
Details of the Deed of Non-Competition was set out in the section
headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” of the
Prospectus.

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company have
reviewed the status of compliance and confirmed that all the
undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition have been
complied with by the Controlling Shareholders up to the date of
this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no transaction, arrangement
or contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a Director of the Company or an entity associated with him
or her has or had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at any time during the Year.

COMPETING INTEREST

During the Year, and up to the date of this report, none of the
Directors, or the controlling shareholders or substantial
shareholders (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) of the Company
or their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) had engaged in or had any interest in any business which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the business of the Group and which requires disclosure pursuant
to Rule 11.04 of GEM Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed "Directors’ and chief
executives’ interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares
and debentures” below, at no time during the Year were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares granted to
any Director or their respective spouse or children under 18 years of
age, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the
Company, or the Company'’s subsidiary or holding company or a
subsidiary of the Company’s holding company a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any
other body corporate.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the
Year.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had issued or
granted any convertible securities, options, warrants or similar
rights or exercise any conversion or subscription rights under any
convertible securities, options, warrants or similar rights during the
Year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at the date of this annual report, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares
capital, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO),
which were required (a) to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including any interests or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein; or (c) to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by the
Directors as referred to in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules
were as follows:

EERESTHRAERKRAD - HE
R REEENEZ KR

RAFHREE  ARBEZRERTTHRA
BRARANEBHEZE(EERBESFKL
HAERMIZE XVER) < IR - HER D R E&E
BEPHEB REBEIESFRBAEEHIZEXV
HE7RsDEREABME RN A FEER
FT (B IERIE B S R HE & A A B &
BEEFXRAEENERIAR) » =
(o) IR IR T FH N BB &5 58 352 R B R 8 0
ZIGF SR MAERIARE  KOR
BEGEM F TR B S46 B 567 IKEER 5
PR AN AR a) B R TR R ok
KRBT

Approximate

Number of percentage of
shares held shareholding (%)
Name of Directors Capacity/nature of interest (Note 1) (Note 5)
FREHE B2 L (%)
BEEpR 5 EEME (Htat1) (Ktats)
Mr. Chow Eric Tse To Interest in a controlled corporation 87,750,000 Shares (L) 48.75%
(Note 2)
EFmrE (ffa2) REREEER 87,750,000 A& 1 (L) 48.75%
Mr. Lau Tung Hei Derek Interest in a controlled corporation 13,500,000 Shares (L) 7.50%
("Mr. Lau") (Note 3)
R AE REtEEER 13,500,000 B AR 13 (L) 7.50%
(T8IREE]) (frat3)
Ms. Cai Xiaoshan Interest in a controlled corporation 33,750,000 Shares (L) 18.75%
("Ms. Cai") (Note 4)
gEEfa+ ((Fgat)) AR s 33,750,000 BR AR5 (L) 18.75%
(ftiF4)

50 Icon Culture Global Company Limited 2019 Annual Report



Notes:
1. The letter “L" denotes a long position in the Shares.

2. Shining Icon and Sense One are wholly-owned by Mr. Chow.
Therefore, Mr. Chow is deemed to be interested in the Shares held
by Shining Icon and Sense One pursuant to SFO.

3. Master Connection is wholly-owned by Mr. Lau. Therefore, Mr. Lau is
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Master Connection
pursuant to SFO.

4. Focus Wonder is wholly-owned by Ms. Cai. Therefore, Ms. Cai is
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Focus Wonder
pursuant to SFO.

5. The calculation is based on the total number of 180,000,000 Shares
inissue as at the date of this report.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Director nor the chief
executives of the Company has any interests and short positions in
the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required (a) to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including any interests or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein; or (c) to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by the
Directors as referred to in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN FTERRRAKRD - HERORERE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES EHhpER

As at the date of this annual report, the following persons (not RAREHRBHE - L TA T (WIERRTE
being Directors or chief executives of the Company) had, or were B HZE =T A B ) RNA R GBI 7D Kk AH
deemed to have, interests or short positions in the shares and RN EARER ASEERIEEAREE
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed &I XVERE 2 & 3D 2 R EBRAA A
to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of &) B3 Pk RV E RS SOX B s B sl AR
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were required to A RIIRE B 5 R EKRHIEB6ERFEZ
be recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the R B MAMEZR AR ¢

Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

Approximate
Number percentage of
of Shares held shareholding (%)

Name of Shareholders Capacity/nature of interest (Note 1) (Note 2)

HEREE B 7L (%)
RERER By REEME (Ktzt1) (Btat2)
Shining Icon Beneficial Owner 69,660,000 Shares (L) 38.70%
Shining Icon EmHEAA 69,660,000 B A% 15 (L) 38.70%
Focus Wonder Beneficial Owner 33,750,000 Shares (L) 18.75%
Focus Wonder EmEEA 33,750,000 B& A5 (L) 18.75%
Sense One Beneficial Owner 18,090,000 Shares (L) 10.05%
Sense One ERERA 18,090,000 A& A% 1 (L) 10.05%
Master Connection Beneficial Owner 13,500,000 Shares (L) 7.50%
Master Connection BEmBEA A 13,500,000 BZ P& 19 (L) 7.50%
Notes: HtaE -
(1) The letter "L" denotes a long position in our Shares. 1 FEIL] EREROHFE -

(2)  The calculation is based on the total number of 180,000,000 Shares  (2) BT3B R AR E BN D BT MDA

st

inissue as at the date of this report £§180,000,000 I&EtHAIGH ©
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Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report, no
person, other than the Directors and chief executives of the
Company whose interests are set out in the paragraph headed
"Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short positions in
shares, underlying shares and debentures” above, had any interests
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the
Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which were required to be recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Share Option Scheme has been conditionally adopted on 11
December 2019, with an effective life for 10 years from the Listing
Date.

Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company
to grant options to Eligible Participants (as defined in below) as
incentives or rewards for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Group and to provide the Eligible Participants
an opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company with the
view to achieving the following objectives:

(i)  motivate the Eligible Participants to optimise their
performance efficiency for the benefit of the Group;

(i) attract and retain or otherwise maintain on-going business
relationship with the Eligible Participants whose contributions
are or will be beneficial to the long-term growth of the Group;
and/or

(iii)  for such purposes as the Board may approve from time to
time.
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Who may join

The Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such terms as it
may think fit, grant any of the Eligible Participants, as defined below,
options to subscribe at a price calculated in accordance with
paragraph headed “Subscription price of shares” below for such
number of Shares as it may determine in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme.

The basis of eligibility of any participant to the grant of any option
shall be determined by the Board (or as the case may be, our
independent non-executive Directors) from time to time on the
basis of his contribution or potential contribution to the
development and growth of the Group.

Eligible participants (the “Eligible Participants”) shall include any
full-time or part-time employees, executives or officers (including
executive, non-executive and independent non-executive
Directors) of the Group and any suppliers, customers, consultants,
agents, advisers and related entities who, in the sole opinion of the
Board, will contribute or have contributed to the Group.

Maximum number of shares

18,000,000, that is, the maximum number of Shares issuable upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company as
from 11 December 2019 (excluding, for this purpose, Shares
issuable upon exercise of options which have been granted but
which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme or any other share option schemes of the
Company) must not in aggregate exceed 10% of all the Shares in
issue as at the Listing Date which is 180,000,000 Shares.

Maximum number of Shares comprised in options to
any one individual

1% of the Shares in issue as of the date of grant in any 12-month
period up to the date of grant.
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Period within which the securities must be taken up
under an option

An option may be accepted by a participant within 21 days
inclusive of the day on which such offer was made.

Minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised

There is no such requirement imposed by the Share Option
Scheme, provided that the Directors, may impose such requirement
upon grant of the option on which the option is deemed to be
granted and accepted.

Amount payable on application or acceptance of the
options

The amount payable by the grantee of an option to the Company
on acceptance of the offer for the grant of an option is HK$1.00.

Subscription price of Shares

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be a price solely
determined by the Board and notified to a participant and shall be
at least the higher of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the
option, which must be a business day;

(i) the average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant of the option;
and

(i) the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant of the
option. For the purpose of calculating the subscription price,
where the Company has been listed on the Stock Exchange
for less than five business days, the issue price of the Shares
on the Stock Exchange shall be used as the closing price for
any business day fall within the period before listing.
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The Shares of the Company were listed on the Listing Day. No
options had been granted, agreed to be granted, exercised, lapsed
or cancelled under the Share Option Scheme during the Year and
up to the date of this report.

MATERIAL LITIGATION

As at 31 December 2019, the Group was involved in one legal
proceeding (the “Proceeding”) in respect of a dispute relating to
an arrangement (the “Arrangement”) between one of our
suppliers (the “Plaintiff’) and Icon Media, pursuant to which the
Plaintiff intended to provide TV advertising platform in certain
metro trains and stations in Shanghai to Icon Media. Up to the
Latest Practicable Date, no written agreement has been signed
between the parties in relation to the Arrangement.

With respect to the Proceeding, the Plaintiff initiated a claim in
December 2017 against Icon Media for alleged outstanding
advertising fees payable by Icon Media for the period between
January 2017 and May 2017 and damages for breach of contract in
the total amount of RMB7,342,420 (inclusive of interest). The Plaintiff
also obtained an injunction order to freeze the bank deposits of
lcon Media and as at the latest practicable date of this annual
report, an amount of RMB7,342,420 remained frozen until further
determination by the court. Icon Media argued that the reason for
non-payment was because certain major terms of the Arrangement
were still being negotiated between the parties, including the
payment amount and service period. It was thus difficult for Icon
Media to make payment to the Plaintiff when such terms were not
yet agreed upon. It was nevertheless held by Shenzhen Futian
People's Court (RYITEMEE AKEPT) (the “Court of First
Instance”) that despite no formal contract was signed, given the
Plaintiff had partially provided certain services under the
Arrangement, to which lcon Media had knowledge about and did
not raise any objection, the Plaintiff should be entitled to payment
in respect of such services.
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According to the judgment of the Court of First Instance on 6 June
2018, Icon Media was ordered to pay (a) approximately RMB1.44
million representing the advertising fees plus relevant interest, (b)
RMB160,000 as damages for breach of contract, and (c)
approximately RMB19,000 representing the legal costs of the
Proceeding. On 20 September 2018, the Plaintiff filed an appeal (the
"Appeal’) with Shenzhen Intermediate People's Court* (&[T H
MAREBR) (the "Appellate Court’) which was heard on 5 June
2019. At the Appeal, the Plaintiff relied on certain new evidence (the
“New Evidence’) claiming Icon Media liable for unrealised revenue
which the Plaintiff would have made from the contract entered into
between the Plaintiff and its customer from January 2017 to
February 2018. The New Evidence comprised (i) purchase orders of
the advertising services deployed from the Plaintiff's customer in
2016 and 2017; (i) advertising deployment agreement and metro
television media advertising deployment agreement entered into
between the Plaintiff and its supplier in 2016; and (iii) the television
advertisement (Shanghai Metro) monitoring report for the period
between June 2017 and August 2017. It is expected that the
admissibility of the New Evidence would be decided by the.
Appellate Court upon delivery of its judgment. As at the Latest
Practicable Date, the judgement was yet to be issued by the
Appellate Court after the hearing on the Appeal. Investors should
be aware that the outcome of the case would depend on the
judgement of the Appellate Court.

Hylands Law Firm, our legal counsel in respect of the Proceeding
for Icon Media, is of the strong view that (i) the New Evidence
should not be admissible as it was not submitted within the
prescribed time and incompliant with the rules of evidence under
the Civil Procedure Law of the PRC* (RZFBFFFAE); (ii) the New
Evidence was unable to substantiate the Plaintiff's claim and should
not alter the outcome of the Proceedings; and (iii) the Court of First
Instance had already made a clear adjudication on the facts and
laws, it is probable that the Appellate Court would uphold the
judgement of the Court of First Instance. In any event, we have
made provisions for the full amount of claim expected to be paid
by us at approximately RMB1.8 million as at 31 December 2019.

Save as disclosed above, the Group was not involved in any material
litigation or arbitration during the Year. The Directors are also not
aware of any material litigation or claims that are pending or
threatened against the Group since the Listing Date and up to the
date of this annual report.
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INTERESTS OF COMPLIANCE ADVISER

As notified by Innovax Capital Limited (“Innovax”), the compliance
adviser of the Company, save for the compliance adviser agreement
entered into between the Company and Innovax dated 20 June
2019, neither Innovax nor any of its close associates (as defined in
the GEM Listing Rules), the directors or employees had any interest
in the share capital of the Company or any member of the Group
(including options or rights to subscribe for such securities, if any)
which is required to be notified to the Company pursuant to Rule
6A.32 of the GEM Listing Rules as at 31 December 2019 and up to
the date of this report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
percentage of public float under the GEM Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year have been
audited by KPMG, the independent auditor of the Company.

The Board has taken the Audit Committee’s recommendation that
a resolution for their re-appointment as independent auditor of the
Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

The Company did not change the auditor, KPMG in the past 3 years.
A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting for the re-appointment of KPMG as the independent

auditor of the Company.

There is no change of independent auditor since the Listing Date
and up to the date of this annual report.
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Report of the Directors

EEERE

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD WEHIREE

Save as disclosed under the sections headed "Management B EX [EBIEEBFRmEDNT | —EMEE
Discussion and Analysis” above, there is no other significant event  F4h » KREB A FE B W EHEME XE

after the Year of the Group. o

On behalf of the Board REXESE

Mr. Chow Eric Tse To BfEiE
Chairman FE

Hong Kong, May 2020 B 20205 A
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Our Directors recognise the importance of good corporate
governance in management and internal procedures to promote
and ensure accountability. The Company’s corporate governance
practices are based on principles and code provisions of the
corporate governance code as set out in Appendix 15 (the
“Corporate Governance Code’) to the GEM Listing Rules. Since
the Listing of Shares, the Company’s corporate governance
practices have been complied with and we will continue to comply
with the Corporate Governance Code (the “Corporate
Governance Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing
Rules.

THE BOARD

Board of Directors

The Board currently comprises eight members, consisting of five
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.
The composition of the Board comprises the following Directors:
Executive Directors:

Mr. Chow Eric Tse To (Chairman) (appointed on 24 April 2019)

Ms. Cai Xiaohan (appointed on 31 May 2019)

Mr. Lau Tung Hei Derek (appointed on 31 May 2019)

Ms. Liang Wei (Chief Executive Officer) (appointed on 31 May 2019)
Mr. Liu Biao (appointed on 31 May 2019)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Lee Siu Hung Foster (appointed on 11 December 2019)

Ms. Tam Hon Shan Celia (appointed on 11 December 2019)

Mr. Tian Tao (appointed on 11 December 2019)

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section
headed "Biographical Information of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 25 to 35 of this annual report. Save as

disclosed, there is no other financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships among the members of the Board.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, Mr. Chow
Eric Tse To acted as the Chairman and Ms. Liang Wei acted as the
Chief Executive Officer. The Chairman performs the management of
the Board and the Chief Executive Officer performs the day-to-day
management of the Group’s businesses. Clear division of their
respective roles and responsibilities is in place and set out in writing
to ensure a balance of power and authority.

BOARD MEETINGS

As the Shares were only listed on the Stock Exchange the Listing
Date, the code provisions relating to convening the Board meetings
are not applicable to the Company throughout the Year. Two Board
meetings were held subsequent to the financial year ended 31
December 2019. All Directors attended the said meeting.

From the Listing Date onwards, the Board will meet regularly and
schedule to meet at least four times every year at approximately
quarterly intervals in accordance with the CG Code. Apart from
regular Board meetings, the Chairman will also hold meeting
annually with the independent non-executive Directors without
the presence of other Directors.

At least 14 days’ notice of a Board meeting will be normally given to
all Directors who are given an opportunity to include matters for
discussion in the agenda. The Board’s procedures comply with the
Articles of Association, as well as relevant rules and regulations.

Board minutes of each Board meeting and minutes of the
committees shall be prepared in sufficient details for the matters
considered and decisions reached. Draft and final versions of
minutes shall be sent to all directors for their comment and records
respectively, within a reasonable time after the board meeting is
held.

Minutes of the board meeting and board committees shall be duly
kept by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection at any
reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director.
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Draft and final versions of minutes should be sent to all directors for
their comment and records respectively, within a reasonable time

after the board meeting is held.

From the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report,
details of the number of board meeting is held and the attendance

of the individual Directors are set out in the table below:

Name of Directors

BEsgR

SR ERAERERELESTES
BERE-BRAERHANEREETE2E
B RHEESERERR  SERIER
AERZ A -

BLETHEENEEANFRAY  B17E
FEERRBNARLEESTRNEHE=
B HI R SO K

Attendance/Eligible to attend board meeting

HERY, EERLEERERE

Executive Directors
HITESE

Mr. Chow Eric Tse To
[BFREiE

Ms. Cai Xiaoshan
st

Mr. Lau Tung Hei Derek
IR ST E

Ms. Liang Wei
R L

Mr. Liu Biao
EllEie

Independent non-executive Directors
BYEHITES

Mr. Lee Siu Hang Foster

FIRBEE

Ms. Tam Hon Shan Celia

M+

Mr. Tian Tao

BExE
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board at all times after the Listing Date met the requirements
of the GEM Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least
three independent non-executive Directors representing one-third
of the Board with one of whom possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise.

The Board has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors a written annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and
considers each of them to be independent.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed a
letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of one
year commencing from the Listing Date.

RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES AND
CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD AND MANAGEMENT

The Board is the primary decision making body of the Company
and is responsible for overseeing the Group'’s businesses, strategic
decisions and performance and is collectively responsible for
promoting the success of the Company by directing and
supervising its affairs. The Board makes decisions objectively in the
interests of the Company.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning. The executive Directors oversee the daily
operations of the Group, while our independent non-executive
Directors bring independent judgment to the decision making
process of the Board, taking into account the advice of the senior
management of the Group.

The Group's senior management is responsible for the day-to-day
management of the Group’s business, carrying out the business
decisions of the Group is responsible for overseeing the general
operation, business development, finance, marketing, and
operations as well as other essential management functions of the
Group.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee
(the “Remuneration Committee”’) and the nomination committee
(the "Nomination Committee”), for overseeing particular aspects
of the Company’s affairs. Each of these committees are established
with defined written terms of reference. The terms of reference of
the Board committees are available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

Audit Committee

Our Company established the Audit Committee on 11 December
2019 with written terms of reference in compliance with the GEM
Listing Rules. The Audit Committee consists of three independent
non-executive Directors members, namely Mr. Lee Siu Hang Foster,
Ms. Tam Hon Shan Celia and Mr. Tian Tao. Mr. Lee Siu Hang Foster,
is the chairperson of the Audit Committee.

The duties of the Audit Committee include reviewing, in draft form,
the annual report and accounts, half-year report and quarterly reports
and providing advice and comments to the Board. In this regard,
members of the audit committee will liaise with the Board, the senior
management, the reporting accountants and auditors. The Audit
Committee will also consider any significant or usual items that are,
or may need to be, reflected in such reports and accounts and give
consideration to any matter that have been raised by the accounting
staff, compliance officer or auditor. Members of the Audit Committee
are also responsible for reviewing our Company’s financial reporting
process and internal control system.

As the Shares were only listed on the Stock Exchange on the Listing
Date, no meeting of the Audit Committee was held during the Year.
Subsequent to the financial year end, two meetings of the Audit
Committee were held on 31 March and 15 May 2020 to review, among
other things, the unaudited and audited consolidated financial
statements for the Year and the Group’s accounting policies and
practices, the GEM Listing Rules and statutory compliance, risk
management and internal control systems and financial reporting
matters. All members of the Audit Committee attended the meeting.
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From the Listing Date onwards, the Audit Committee will schedule
to meet at least four times per year and will meet with the
Company's external auditor regarding the review of the Company’s
financial report and accounts at least twice a year.

The attendance record of each committee member at the meeting
is set out below:

Name of committee members

REEREHER
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\

Attendance/Number of Meeting

HERE BITERRE

Mr. Lee Siu Hang Foster (Chairperson)
FIREBEA (F/E)

Ms. Tam Hon Shan Celia

EEM 2+

Mr. Tian Tao

Bkt

The Audit Committee had, together with the management,
reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31December 2019. The Audit Committee
is satisfied that the audited consolidated financial statements have
complied with the applicable accounting standards and the
requirements under the GEM Listing Rules.

Remuneration Committee

Our Company established the Remuneration Committee on 11
December 2019 which, at present, consists of three members
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lee Siu Hang
Foster, Ms. Tam Hon Shan Celia and Mr. Tian Tao. Ms. Tam Hon Shan
Celia, is the chairperson of the Remuneration Committee. Written
terms of reference in compliance with code provision B.1.1 of the
Corporate Governance Code have been adopted.

Amongst other things, the primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are to determine the specific remuneration packages of
all executive Directors and senior management, including benefits
in kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or
appointment, and make recommendations to the Board of the
remuneration of independent non-executive Directors.
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As the Shares were only listed on the Stock Exchange on the Listing
Date, no meeting of the Remuneration Committee was held for the
Year. Subsequent to the financial year end, a meeting of the
Remuneration Committee was held on 31 March 2020 to review
the Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of all
Directors and senior management, assess the performance of the
executive Directors and the senior management, review the
remuneration package of the executive Directors and the senior
management and make recommendation to the Board on their
remuneration. All members of the Remuneration Committee
attended the meeting.

From the Listing Date onwards, the Remuneration Committee will
schedule to meet at least once per year.

The attendance record of each committee member at the meeting
is set out below:

Name of committee members
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Attendance/Number of Meeting

ZEEHNENSR HEREBITERARE
Ms. Tam Hon Shan Celia (Chairperson) 1/1
BEM Lt (F/E)

Mr. Lee Siu Hang Foster 1/1
IR &

Mr. Tian Tao 1/1
b=

Details of the remuneration payable to each Director of the
Company for the Year are set out in Note 8 to the financial
statements.

The remuneration of the members of the senior management by
band for the Year is set out below:

Remuneration bands (HKD)

FMERGET)

AEERNARBSESTZHHFBHERN
AR RKR TS -

0

REFZRFMERSI DN RREILENX
FENE ST

\

~

Number of persons

A

Nil to 1,000,000
= £ 1,000,000
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Nomination Committee

Our Company established the Nomination Committee on 11
December 2019. The Nomination Committee consists of three
members, namely Mr. Chow Eric Tse To, Mr. Lee Siu Hang Foster
and Ms. Tam Hon Shan Celia. Mr. Chow Eric Tse To, our Chairman
and executive Director, is the chairperson of the Nomination
Committee. Written terms of reference in compliance with code
provision A.5 of the Corporate Governance Code have been
adopted.

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on appointment of Directors and
succession planning for our Directors.

Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Nomination Committee
evaluates skills, knowledge and experience required by the Board,
and identifies if there are any special requirements for the vacancy.
The Nomination Committee identifies appropriate candidates and
convenes Nomination Committee meeting to discuss and vote in
respect of the nominated Directors, and recommends candidates
for Directors to the Board.

The Nomination Committee considers candidates with individual
skills, experience and professional knowledge that can best assist
and facilitate the effectiveness of the Board. The Nomination
Committee takes the policy on Board diversity of the Company into
consideration when it considers the balance of composition of the
Board as a whole.

As the Shares were only listed on the Stock Exchange on the Listing
Date, no meeting was held by the Nomination Committee during
the Year. Subsequent to the financial year end, a meeting of the
Nomination Committee was held on 31 March 2020 to review the
size and composition of the Board, assess the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors and make recommendation
on the re-election of retiring Directors. All members of the
Nomination Committee attended the meeting.

From the Listing Date onwards, the Nomination Committee will
schedule to meet at least once per year.
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The attendance record of each committee member at the meeting
is set out below:

Name of committee members

ZEEREMSR

ZESRKEBHESHZMRERIIMNT

Attendance/Number of Meeting

HERE BITEBERE

Mr. Chow Eric Tse To (Chairperson)
BFREE(FE)

Mr. Lee Siu Hang Foster

IR LA

Ms. Tam Hon Shan Celia
BEMAZ L

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out
the approach to achieve and maintain an appropriate balance of
diversity perspectives of the Board that are relevant to the
Company'’s business growth.

Pursuant to our board diversity policy, selection of Board candidates
will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge, and industry
experience. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to our Board.

The Board comprises eight members, including five executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. The
Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge and experiences,
including business management, strategic development, media
and advertising, sales management and administration experiences.
The Company is also committed to adopting similar approach to
promote diversity of the management (including but not limited to
the senior management) of the Company to enhance the
effectiveness of our corporate governance. The nomination
committee is responsible for ensuring the diversity of our Board.

Upon the Listing, the nomination committee will review the board
diversity policy from time to time to ensure its continued
effectiveness and we will disclose the implementation of the board
diversity policy in the corporate governance report on an annual
basis.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in
code provision D.3.1 of the Corporate Governance Code, which
include (a) to develop and review an issuer’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
board; (b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior management; (c)
to review and monitor the issuer’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (d) to develop,
review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if
any) applicable to employees and directors; and (e) to review the
issuer’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the
corporate governance report. The Board would review the
Company'’s corporate governance policies and practices, training
and continuous professional development of the Directors and
senior management, the Company's policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, and the
Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and
disclosure in its Corporate Governance Report.

At the Board meeting held on 31 March and 15 May 2020, the
Board had reviewed the Company’s corporate governance
practices, training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
the compliance of the Securities Dealing Code, and the Company’s
compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and disclosure in
this Corporate Governance Report.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received a formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/
her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and full awareness of
Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the GEM Listing
Rules and relevant statutory requirements.
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Subsequent to the Listing Date, the Company shall organize
training sessions on directors’ duties and responsibilities conducted
by the legal advisers for all Directors. The training sessions shall
cover a wide range of relevant topics including directors’ duties and
responsibilities, corporate governance and regulatory updates. In
addition, relevant reading materials including compliance manual
and legal and regulatory updates shall be provided to the Directors
for their reference and studying.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors on terms which are the same as the
required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

Subsequent to the Listing Date, the Company periodically issues
notices to its Directors reminding them of the general prohibition
on dealing in the Company’s listed securities during the blackout
periods before the publication of announcements of financial
results. Having been made a specific enquiry by the Company, all
Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required
standard of dealings and code of conduct regarding securities
transaction from the listing date and up to the date of this annual
report.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibility in Respect of the Financial
Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the Year.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to

events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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Auditor’s Responsibility and Remuneration

The Company appointed KPMG as the external auditor for the Year.
A statement by KPMG about their reporting responsibilities for the
financial statements is included in the independent auditor’s report
on pages 78 to 88.

Details of the fees paid or payable in respect of the audit and non-
audit services provided by KPMG for the Year are set out in the
table below:
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Fees charged

Services rendered P4 it 1Y AR 75 FrutERE A
(RMB)
(AE®)
Audit services TR
— IPO reporting accountants related service — IPO ER ¥R & &1 Al AR B8 AR 7% 1,960,000 7T
— Financial statement audit for year 2019 and — 2019 F E ISR FEIZ 1,650,000 7T
agreed-upon procedures on preliminary RN AEEERF
announcement
Non-audit services SETATARTS
— IPO readiness checking —BRARFAEEEBEIERE 240,000 7T
— Group restructuring tax service — EEEATBIRSE 200,000 7T
— PN21 agreed upon procedures —PN21 B ERRFF 260,000 7T
Total Ry 4,310,000 7T

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the Company's
risk management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness. The risk management and internal control measures
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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To safeguard the interests of our Shareholders and our Group, we
have maintained an internal control system covering corporate
governance, risk management, quality control and financial
reporting. To ensure continuous compliance of all applicable laws
and regulations, our Group has taken and will take the following
measures:

A.  We appointed an external internal control adviser to review
our internal controls in connection with the work scope and
procedures agreed with us and Innovax, the compliance
adviser. The external internal control adviser provided
recommendations on the internal control improvement
identified, and we have adopted the policies and measures as
recommended by our external internal control adviser;

B.  Our Board will review the adequacy and effectiveness of our
internal control on an annual basis to ensure compliance with
applicable laws and regulations and will ensure that on-going
improvements will be made to the internal control system;

C. Our Directors attended training sessions conducted by the
Hong Kong legal advisers of our Company on 31 May 2019 on
on-going obligations and duties of directors of a listed
company, including among others, sessions on connected
transactions, codes of corporate governance, dealing in
securities, disclosure of inside information and notifiable
transactions;

D. The Audit Committee has been established to review the
internal control system and procedures for compliance with
the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules; and

E.  We have appointed Innovax as our compliance adviser
pursuant to Rule 6A.19 of the GEM Listing Rules to ensure
that, among other things, we are properly guided and advised
as to compliance with the GEM Listing Rules and all other
applicable laws, rules, codes and guidelines and to advise on
compliance matters in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules.
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Meanwhile, the Group has its own internal control, independent
accounting and financial management system and our Group
makes financial decisions according to its own business needs.

In respect of our investments in wealth management products, we
have implemented internal control measures to monitor and
control our investment risks and adopted the treasury policy which
set out the framework for managing our financial assets. The
Company also adopts a treasury policy, which includes, among
other things, (i) investment should be undertaken only in situations
where our Group have surplus cash not required for our short-term
working capital purposes; (i) investments in high-risk products are
not permitted; and (iii) criteria for selecting investments to be
considered by our senior management include duration of
investment, liquidity, risk and expected yield. Our finance
department is responsible for treasury management functions,
which include, amongst others, researching and sourcing
investment options for further consideration by the executive
director, financial controller and our Board, and monitoring the
investments on a continuous basis. We primarily invest in low risk
investment products with relatively stable returns at licensed banks
or financial institutions when our cash balance is sufficient for our
Group’s capital expenditure and working capital for operations.
Investment decisions are recommended by our finance
department, which are passed to the executive Directors for
approval. The Company shall continue to strictly implement our
investment and treasury policy.

Subsequent to the Listing Date, the Board has delegated its
responsibilities (with relevant authorities) of risk management and
internal control to the Audit Committee, who oversees
management in the design, implementation and monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems, and management
shall provide a confirmation to the Audit Committee (and the
Board) on the effectiveness of these systems regularly.

As the Company was listed in 2020, risk management and internal
control systems review had yet been conducted. Subsequently, the
Audit Committee shall review the risk management and internal
control systems at least twice a year.
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Upon Listing of Shares, the Company had been proactively
recruiting more suitable candidate(s) with relevant expertise to help
review the internal control systems of the Company, including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions. The Company has also engaged external
professional experts to advise on the internal control system. The
Company is also in the process of establishing its own internal audit
department. The Company considers these measures will be
effective and adequate in light of the size, nature and complexity of
the Group's business.

INSIDE INFORMATION

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information, the Company:

is aware of its obligations under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Cap. 571) (the "SFO") and the GEM Listing Rules
and is required, as soon as reasonably practicable after any
inside information has come to its knowledge, to disclose the
information to the public;

decides and implements monitoring procedures regarding
dissemination of inside information; and

communicates with relevant persons about corporate
information disclosure practices with respective training.

COMPANY SECRETARY

In order to satisfy the requirements under the GEM Listing Rules, the
Company had appointed Ms. Li Zhiyan (“Ms. Li") and Sir Seaman
Kwok Siu Man KR as our joint company secretaries upon Listing of
Shares. On 29 February 2020, Ms. Li has resigned as one of the joint
company secretaries of the Company. Sir Seaman Kwok Siu Man KR
then became the sole company secretary of the Company (the
“Company Secretary”). Sir Seaman Kwok is presently an executive
director and head of corporate secretarial of Boardroom Corporate
Services (HK) Limited and a director of Boardroom Share Registrars
(HK) Limited, the Hong Kong branch share registrar of our Company.
He has over 30 years' legal, corporate secretarial and management
experience.
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All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary on corporate governance and board practices and
matters. Each of Ms. Liang Wei, an executive Director, and Mr. Zhu
Yifan, the Board secretary and investment VP of the Group, has
been designated as the primary contact person at the Company
which would work and communicate with Sir Seaman Kwok on the
Company's corporate governance and company secretarial matters.

During the Year, Sir Seaman Kwok undertook no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training. His biography is set out on page
34 to 35 of this annual report in the section of “Biographical
Information of Directors And Senior Management”.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of Extraordinary General Meetings (the
“EGM”) by the Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles, the Directors may, whenever
they think fit, convene an EGM shall also be convened on the
requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the date of
deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company having the right of voting at general
meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Directors
or the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring an EGM to
be called by the Directors for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one
(21) days of such deposit the Directors fail to proceed to convene
such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so
in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Directors shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting forward Proposals at a General Meeting

A Shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary at the principal place of business in Hong Kong
of the Company at 31/F,, 148 Electric Road, North Point, Hong Kong,
specifying the shareholding information of the Shareholder, his/her
contact details and the proposal he/she intends to put forward at
general meeting regarding any specified transaction/business and
its supporting documents.
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Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for the
attention of the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal
place of business in 31/F., 148 Electric Road, North Point, Hong
Kong.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance and
strategies. The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going
dialogue with Shareholders and in particular, through annual
general meetings and other general meetings. At the forthcoming
annual general meeting, Directors (or their delegates as
appropriate) will be available to meet Shareholders and answer
their enquiries.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Our Company currently does not have a dividend policy or any pre-
determined dividend distribution ratio and may declare dividends
by way of cash or by other means that our Directors consider
appropriate. Our Directors shall decide and recommend the
amount of dividends (or decide not to recommend any dividend)
based on our earnings, cash flows, financial condition, capital
requirements, future plans of our Group and any other conditions
that our Directors deem relevant at such time. The foregoing,
including our dividend distribution record, should not be viewed as
a reference or basis to determine the level of dividends that may be
declared or paid by us in the future. There is no guarantee or
representation or indication that our Directors must or will
recommend and that our Group must or will pay dividends or
declare and pay dividends at all.

The declaration, payment and amount of any future dividends are
subject to the discretion of our Board depending on our earnings,
financial condition, cash requirements and the provisions governing
the declaration and distribution as contained in the Articles of
Association, applicable laws and other relevant factors.
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CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS ERXHEE

The Company has not made any changes to its Articles of AT L B 2 & W mE HASE
Association on or after the Listing Date. An up-to-date version of 2 4R BIIVEH(E{A & B o AN D T8 S48 4%
the Company’s Articles of Association is also available on the =2 4BEITRA] 5 BIR AN A 514304 F Bk 32 B
respective websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange’'s  #ub#&R] -

website.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZBEHRE

KPMG

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Icon Culture Global Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Icon
Culture Global Company Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 89 to 183, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2019, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2019 and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants ("the Code”) together with any ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in the Cayman Islands and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZBERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Revenue recognition

mR W

BAREELEER)

Refer to note 3 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 118 and 119.
AR R BRI RE 118 R 119 BB EFTBUR

The Key Audit Matter
BAREREE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EENBERNMEREZSEE

The principal activities of the Group are rendering
traditional offline media advertising, online media
advertising, PR marketing campaigns and other services.
EEEZIEXEBREHERRTERBES BL
KRS - /B EHEB NMEMAR -

Revenue from different advertising service projects have
different contract terms and revenue recognition criteria.
In addition, as the Group handles individual transactions
manually, there is an increased risk of that error may be
made in the recognition of revenue.

KB NRESRSEEEB RS T RS R K
HERWESRE - o - AR EEEA TR ER
R WA ERW SRS A RO ARG AT
o e

We identified recognition of revenue as a key audit
matter because (i) revenue is a key performance measure
for the Group and a key driver of the gross margin which
increases the risk that revenue may be manipulated to
meet targets and expectations; and (i) different contract
terms require different accounting treatments and
manual analysis which increases the risk of errors in the
recognition of revenue.
EERERW BN A —HAREZEE Bk
m) EEENBREERESEIENENEIZES
N WaESEWARBRENES B ERIEHNRR
UL R () TRELGERFEZ TR EIEIA
RATIOH - B8 iR o 2R 88 AR 60 LB

Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of
revenue included the following:

BEMEER KRG c BEREFBERIAT @ :

understanding and assessing the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of key
internal controls over recognition of revenue;

T AR Ko Tl B A SR M e AR Y B 52 PO BB A R
&ET  BinbA KRBT B RUE ;

inspecting the Group's contracts with customers
on a sample basis and discussing with the
management on the nature of each major type of
services to evaluate the Group's revenue
recognition policies with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;

S2EZRTEAEANRTE  UNHEEEE
t EEBEEZPRINAH  WHREEEN
MEREFERBOUE - Uslh EXEOHE
R ERBR

reconciling revenue records as set out in the
management accounts, on a sample basis, to
service contracts, service confirmation notes,
monitoring reports, and bank-in slips;

ARREEE - B IRER B PSI AU a5 sO 85 BR AR
BEH - RGERANE  ERWmEREITA
FREETTHRR
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BYRBETRE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) FAREZEIE(E)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
R (E)

Refer to note 3 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 118 and 119.

B2 A RT3 RE 118 R 119 BN EFTHE -

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

HREZEE EENBERUMNEEZEE

confirming with the Group’s customers directly on
revenue records, balances of trade receivables,
summaries of service contracts signed between the
Group and its customers and the completion status
of the above service contracts as at the year end on
a sample basis;

AMEEE  HEE SEEZTPERAWET
- EZRUGERE - EEBEEERPR
FIMRBEORME - AR EMRBE S ORNFR
HTER BN

assessing existence of the Group’s advertising
services projects by matching services contents as
set out in the service contracts signed with the
customers to the media resources procurement
contracts signed with the suppliers on a sample
basis; and

DAHEREE - BB EE PRATNREES LHE
REERRITNERBERRESOTHRBEA
RETLE - FHE EEEESRBERRS
TE: R

evaluating whether revenue was recorded in the
appropriate accounting period by assessing
whether the advertising services revenue
recognition progress was consistent with the terms
and advertisement schedule in the service
contracts on a sample basis.
FAAEREET B ERGERW S EER
BERG ST GRR R EEFTE—8 - AT
HRREERNEE NS HRERLA
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZBERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Impairment of trade receivables

85 RWEERE

BAREELEER)

Refer to note 16 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on pages 105 to 111.
BRI E B HREN T 16 RE105F 111 ARV EETEE °

The Key Audit Matter
RREELER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EENERNNEEZSEE

As disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group has gross trade receivables
amounting to approximately RMB42, 872,000 as at 31
December 2019. Impairment losses of RMB522,000 were
recorded as at 31 December 2019.
WIERE S REMI 16T 58 - M 2019F 12 A
31 BEEEMNEBESZRUFRBHEBHNARARE
42,872,0007C > 720198 12 A31 8 » ##B5REEIE
ARH 522,000 7T °

Management recognises a loss allowance for lifetime
expected credit losses (ECLs) on the trade receivables.
Lifetime ECLs are estimated based on a number of factors
which include aging of overdue trade receivables,
historical payment profiles and the corresponding
historical credit losses rate of the Group’s customers,
current market conditions and forecast of future
economic conditions, and with reference to expected
credit loss rates of comparable companies at the end of
each reporting period. Such assessment involves a
significant degree of management judgment and
estimation.

EIRERE ZHENFIENREFEHNEREHE
K (EEAMERER) HABBEEE - BEFEINE
HERBRDEREATE THERETHE : B
BHRWFENERE EBELXNHANR SE£EF
FHMEERLERABREX ERmSRRRERK
OBEARETER - W EZREHARALAFMNTE
HIERIBARE - &P REEER B R HE K& ih
it e

Our audit procedures to assess the impairment of trade
receivables included the following:
EENHESRRFIBERENEZEFBREATH
m|m :

assessing the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of key internal controls
which govern credit control, debt collection and
the estimation of loss allowance;
FHERNEIRE RS - EUSRIRRY KORE
BRI R - Bie &
BB RE

assessing, on a sample basis, whether items in the
trade receivables aging report were classified
within the appropriate aging bracket by comparing
individual items in the report with the relevant
supporting documents;

BB E ZEYRIERRE R E N ERITE B EAE
BT R M ST b - DU E R (A S
WEIEE R R0 BREEE RICEE

challenging management’s estimation of expected
credit loss, taking into consideration the aging of
the balances, credit terms, recent settlement
patterns, historical observed default rate, current
market conditions and the forecast of future
economic conditions;
BREEEELNRRERBXRMT  REE
RERFER AR ~ FRGRR  THIEEEN F

SRRIBRAGE AR  RITHIGAN BB R
AR SETEH] |
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Impairment of trade receivables (Continued)

B 5 BWRERE (&)

Independent Auditor’s Report
BYRBETRE

BAREELEER)

Refer to note 16 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on pages 105to 111.
BRI E I BHEN T 16 RE105F 111 BERIBFHBE

The Key Audit Matter
HRELEIE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EENBRNMEEZSEE

We identified assessing the impairment of trade
receivables as a key audit matter because the assessment
of loss allowances for trade receivables is inherently
subjective and requires significant management
judgment, which increases the risk of error or potential
management bias.
HREZERFIEBERENTEEARNETELE

B REREEEHE  EMEMTRELEEE
BERANERER BtESFKE S EEFIENRE
AHE BRI A THERERFIR

identifying significant or long overdue trade
receivables by inspecting the trade receivable
aging report and challenging management’s
assessment of the recoverability of these balances,
taking into consideration the aging of the balances,
credit terms, recent settlement patterns, and
forecast of future economic conditions; and
RAREEHRWFIARKRETERNEIEE
Fha% F R AT B ML PRV RT 4 - AR Z B ER
HHBRE - ERGT - CREFRAARLE R
RBEARATEN - BRI EXRSRABIHNE
SRENIE &

inspecting cash receipts from customers after the
financial year end relating to trade receivable
balances as at 31 December 2019, on a sample

basis.

LA 0 5 CRERTRFEELEREREBER
2o19$12ﬂ3156’]5’3%ﬁ% RIBEEBRNBE R
FUEAIR S A -
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZBERE

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is

a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Independent Auditor’s Report
B EE RS
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZBERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations
or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal
control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and

the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, then we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, related safeguards.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZEERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in
our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chung Kai Ming.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

15 May 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

mEBRER

(AARKETITR)

(Expressed in Renminbi)

2019 2018
2019 % 2018 4F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Kiat ARET T ARET T
Revenue g 3 150,099 208,941
Cost of sales FHE R AR (171,676) (167,699)
Gross profit ER (21,577) 41,242
Other revenue H Az 4 1,229 2,798
Other net income/(loss) Ha A (E518) F58 5 143 (1,468)
Selling expenses SHERY (2,746) (3,321)
Administrative expenses 1T (27,991) (14,049)
(Loss)/profit from operations e (FR),BR (50,942) 25,202
Finance costs 5 E A 6(a) (613) (485)
(Loss)/profit before taxation BBiAT (B5E) %R 6 (51,555) 24,717
Income tax TSR 7 9,266 (6,245)
(Loss)/profit for the year KARERRREGER
attributable to equity (B518), = F
shareholders of the Company (42,289) 18,472
(Loss)/earnings per share (RMB) & (E518) HF (A R¥)
Basic H A 11 (0.31) 0.14
Diluted 5 11 (0.31) 0.14

The notes on pages 96 to 183 form part of these financial statements.

96 % 183 AMMIEBAZER

FI5IRRE — &

2019 FEH RANABEBRERERAE
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GEREaKEMEEKER

(Expressed in Renminbi) (A AREEFIIR)

2019 2018
2019 20184F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Hiat ARBTRT ARETT
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(ER) BF (42,289) 18,472
Other comprehensive income FRHEMEZE KR
for the year 10
Items that may be reclassified HZ gt B R E B
subsequently to profit or loss: mIER -
Exchange differences on translation B TNF A A R
of financial statements of entities TAR®DEREEE
not using Renminbi ('RMB") KB BSI TE KR A
as functional currency b 5 =58 (194) -
Other comprehensive income FRHM 2K
for the year (194) -
Total comprehensive income RRAE R R R R
for the year attributable to FREEWRZEE
equity shareholders of the
Company (42,483) 18,472

The notes on pages 96 to 183 form part of these financial statements.
F96E 183 AWM A ZEM BTN —HH ©
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

wa MR R

(Expressed in Renminbi)  (AAREEFIITR)

2019 2018
2019 F 20184
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Kiat ARET T AREFTT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M -~ MR MR 12 1,335 947
Right-of-use assets FREEE 13 5,059 15374
Deferred tax assets RIEFHIBE & 22(b) 10,206 921
Total non-current assets FRBEELTE 16,600 17,242
Current assets REBEE
Financial assets EREE 15 - 1,775
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E MK FRIE 16 81,575 67,077
Restricted deposits with a bank TR —RRITH R RS
== 17 7,342 7,342
Cash and cash equivalents BeMIReEEY 18 28,852 36,008
Total current assets REBEEHAL 117,769 112,202
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 LHE AR I 19 120,948 33,966
Contract liabilities BH8E 20 8,781 4,188
Lease liabilities MEBE 21 4,093 8632
Current taxation BIEARE A 22(a) 19 4,729
Total current liabilities REBAEAE 133,841 51,515
Net current (liabilities)/assets REN(BE) EETE (16,072) 60,687
Total assets less current liabilities EEZERABEE 528 77,929
Non-current liability FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 21 809 5,727
Totalnon-currentliability =~ Fmm&fesm 000000 809 5727
Net (liabilities)/assets (BE) EEFHE (281) 72,202

The notes on pages 96 to 183 form part of these financial statements.

F 6% 183 AMMEBKRAENBHRERN—& 7 -
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

e BN K (E)

(Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBIITR)

2019 2018
2019 F 20184
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Kiat ARET T AREFTT

Capital and reserves EAXK#E
Share capital N 23 —* 20,010
Reserves G 23 (281) 52,192
Total (deficit)/equity (ES4ll) REZS s %E (281) 72,202

* The balance represents amount less than RMB1,000.

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 15

May 2020.

* ZHBBERAERELHARE10007T

KEEEH2020F5 A 15 B E RIRESETT -

The notes on pages 96 to 183 form part of these financial statements.

Liang Wei
R
Director

EE

F 962 183 AMMEBARAEIMBHREN—& 7 -
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #(ZE 2019 % 12 A 31 BIEFE
(AARKETIR)

(Expressed in Renminbi)

Retained
earnings/
Share Share Other Statutory Exchange (accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses) Total
REEH/
BRA RAERE HitfRfE EERE EimE (RiE8) st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTr ARETT ARETT ARBTr ARETRT ARETR
Note 23(a) Note 23(c)()  Note 23(c)(iv) Note 23(c)(ii) ~ Note 23(c)(iii)
MeE23@  ME230  KFE23QM  FE3Q6 2360
Balance at 1January 2019 R 201951 8188
&8 20,010 16,814 - 3,537 - 31,841 72,202
Changes in equity for 2019: 2019 % # :
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - (42,289) (42,289)
Other comprehensive income  E At 2 M & - - - - (194) - (194)
Total comprehensive income 2485 - - - - (194) (42,289) (42,483)
Issue of ordinary shares BITERER

(Note 23(a)ii) (B EE23(a) ) —* 48,731 - - - - 48,731
Amounts transferred from B4 AT A R E

share premium to share BRERAN

capital prior to reorganization %%

(Note 23(c)() (B EE23(0)0)) 16,810 (16,810) - - - - -
Avising from reorganisation  JR 5 &4 (36,820) (4) (11,907) - - - (48,731)
Dividends (Note 23(f) g (B 23(0) - - - - - (30,000) (30,000)
Balance at R2019F12A31H

31 December 2019 HiEeh = 48,731 (11,907) 3,537 (194) (40,448) (281)
* The balance represents amount less than RMB1,000. ZBBERRNSEIONARE10007T

Share Share Other Statutory Exchange Retained
capital premium reserve reserve reserve earnings Total
R RGEE HibfRE EERE B S ke REEAN @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARBTr ARETT ARETT ARBTx
Note 23(a) Note 23(c)()  Note23(c)(iv) ~ Note 23(c)ii)  Note 23(c)(iii)
MiEros@  MEE2300)  MEE23@a  MEE2306)  FEE23(0)
Balance at 1January2018 7420185181 AM
&8 20010 16814 - 1690 - 15216 53,730
Changes in equity for 2018: 2018 % #5)
Profitfortheyearandtotal ~ FREFH K2 E

comprehensive income eyt - - - - - 18472 18472
Transfer to statutory reserve BB B AT e - - - 1,847 - (1,847) -
Balance at 31 December 420185128318
2018 ifegS 20010 16814 - 3,537 - 31,841 72202

The notes on pages 96 to 183 form part of these financial statements.
F 96 E 183 MM TBMZEMERERH —H

019 FER RUXAEREMERAT | 93



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

SARSTER

a0 = IE ;7 JJILER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z 2019 4 12 A 31 BIEFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (A AR#EFIIR)

2019 2018
20194 20184F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
HisE ARBTRT ARETT
Operating activities KeEEH
Cash generated from operations SIBERTEIR S 18(b) 41,442 5,709
Income tax paid EfTFSH 22(a) (7,984) (7,421)
Net cash generated from/(used in) & EB TS~
operating activities (FTH)REBE 33,458 (1,712)
Investing activities REEE
Investment income received BUIEE KA 28 329
Proceeds from disposal of financial HESMEEFRIEHIE
assets 6,775 52,000
Payments for purchase of financial BESRMEEZNX
assets (5,000) (37,000)
Payments for purchase of property, BEWXE - MEM&REBZ
plant and equipment B (998) (169)
Net cash generated from BETEMERE T
investing activities 805 15,160

The notes on pages 96 to 183 form part of these financial statements.

F 962 183 AMMEBARAEIMBHREN—& 7 -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
FEREREBR (B)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (A AR¥E5IITR)

2019 2018
2019 % 2018
Note RMB’000 RMB'000

ftat ARBTRT ARBTT

Financing activities REEE
Payments of listing related expenses 7 8[R8 2 1~ 3% (3,546) -
Issue of shares BTG, 48,731 -
Payment to then shareholders in BEAEE RS EIREN

reorganisation (48,731) -
Payment of dividends XA 23(f) (30,000) -
Advance from a third party —REBE=ZFBK 18(c) - 5,000
Repayment to a third party M—BE=FEK 18(c) - (5,000)
Interest paid 2ERFE 18(c) = (73)
Payments of lease liabilities HEBENZ 18(c) (7,830) (5,594)
Net cash used in financing RETHMARES ERE

activities (41,376) (5,667)

Net (decrease)/increaseincash HRERBESZEY (L),
and cash equivalents BhnFEEE (7,113) 7,781

Cash and cash equivalentsatthe F{E4SRELZEEY
beginning of the year 36,008 28,227

Effect of foreign exchange rate IEERSE WL
changes (43) -

Cash and cash equivalentsatthe £XIFEERIRESZEEY
end of the year 18(a) 28,852 36,008

The notes on pages 96 to 183 form part of these financial statements.
E o6 % 183 AWM B ZEMBHmMERN —H 7 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z 2019 4 12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1

(BRBAMEIN  HAAREIIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

(b)

96

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (HKFRSs), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(HKASs) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM
Listing Rules”). Significant accounting policies adopted
by the Group are disclosed below.

Reorganisation
The consolidated financial statements for the year

ended 31 December 2019 comprise the Company and
its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”).
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1

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BERERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1

(Continued)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)  (BRBBFTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

TEEFBER (8)

(b) Reorganisation (Continued)

The Group's business was conducted through
Guangzhou Icon Culture Media Investment Co., Ltd.
(“lcon Media”) and its subsidiary Guangdong Icon
Wenchuan Technology Co., Ltd. ("lcon Wenchuan”)
established in the PRC, both of which are controlled by
Mr. Chow Eric Tse To (the “Controlling Shareholder”).
To rationalise the corporate structure in preparation for
the listing of the Company’s shares on the GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), the Group underwent a reorganisation (the
“Reorganisation”). The Reorganisation only involved
inserting certain entities with no substantive operations
as holding companies of Icon Media. Upon completion
of the Reorganisation in 2019, the Company became
the holding company of the Group. As such, Icon Media
was controlled by the Controlling Shareholder during
the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 before and
after the Reorganisation and therefore there were no
changes in the economic substance of the ownership
and the business of the Group. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared and presented
as a continuation of the financial information of
companies now comprising the Group with the assets
and liabilities recognised and measured at their
historical carrying amounts prior to the Reorganisation.
Intra-group balances, transactions and unrealised gains/
losses on intra-group transactions are eliminated in full
in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

(b) EA (&)

NEBE ThEBE N KRB E
WIEEBR AR ([ RXALEE])
RERPRKZONE QR E
RABBXERFBERAR(IX
BAAXE]ARER  ZE QA
HHRBEFEEE(TERRR])
T AIBIEATRBNER
RABRNDRBBHERZF
BRARI([#RZFT])GEM ET -
AEBETEHA(ER]) - B
HESEMABTUEUEES
TS BB IE AR BMEE R IE R
ANAE e R2019F E4HTAK % -
KAl ABEAEEMNERA
Al e AL - RAAVEENREHA
BELE 20194 22018 12 A 31
H1EEFEH hERRRE
#l - Bt AREERBEEKE
BHRKEEGWEEH - 55
PBRRIZEEAREBERFE
TARIMMBERN T RER
2y BEERBEDNERE
REARHBEEmMERRRL
E-KSEAELEHR XHNU
MEBARIZFMEENRE
R,/ BB SERELKE
SRS EISEGY (E IO
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE IR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RSB - HUAARKETITR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c)

98

Presentation of preparation of the financial
statements

At 31 December 2019, the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by RMB16,072,000 and the
total liabilities exceeded its total assets by RMB281,000.
The directors of the Company have confirmed that,
based on future projection of the Group's cash flows
from operations and the initial public offering proceeds
received in January 2020 to finance its continuing
operations for the next twelve months from the end of
the reporting period of this annual financial report, the
management believes that the Group has adequate
resources to continue to operate as a going concern
throughout the next twelve months, and that there are
no material uncertainties related to events or conditions
which, individually or collectively, may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
RMB, rounded to the nearest thousand except share
data, which is the functional currency of the major
subsidiaries of the Group in mainland China.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except
financial assets that are stated at fair value as explained
in note 1(f).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BERERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c)

Presentation of preparation of the financial
statements (Continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis of making the judgements about
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty
are discussed in note 2.

(BRBBMIEIN - HAAREIIR)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE IR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RSB - HUAARKETITR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d) Changes in accounting policies

100

The HKICPA has issued a new HKFRS, HKFRS 16, Leases,
and a number of amendments to HKFRSs that are first
effective for the current accounting period of the Group.
None of the developments have had a material effect
on how the Group’s results and net assets for the
current or prior periods prepared or presented. The
Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.

HKFRS 16, Leases

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17, Leases, and the related
interpretations, HK(IFRIC) 4, Determining whether an
arrangement contains a lease, HK(SIC) 15, Operating leases
— incentives, and HK(SIC) 27, Evaluating the substance of
transactions involving the legal form of a lease. It
introduces a single accounting model for lessees, which
requires a lessee to recognise a right-of-use asset and a
lease liability for all leases, except for leases that have a
lease term of 12 months or less (“short-term leases”)
and leases of low-value assets. The lessor accounting
requirements are brought forward from HKAS 17
substantially unchanged.

HKFRS 16 also introduces additional qualitative and
quantitative disclosure requirements which aim to
enable users of the financial statements to assess the
effect that leases have on the financial position, financial
performance and cash flows of an entity.

The Group has early applied HKFRS 16 consistently
throughout the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018. The adoption of HKFRS 16 did not have significant
impact on the Group's results and net assets for the
current or prior periods prepared or presented.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BERERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e) Subsidiaries

(f)

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. When assessing whether the
Group has power, only substantive rights (held by the
Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows and
any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent
that there is no evidence of impairment.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value
on initial recognition of a financial asset (see note 1(f)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 1(i)(ii)).

Other investments

Other investment are recognised initially at fair value. At
the end of each reporting period the fair value is
remeasured. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair
value is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE IR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RSB - HUAARKETITR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(g) Property, plant and equipment

102

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see
note 1(i)(ii)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are
determined as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are
recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or
disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight-line method
over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Motor vehicles 4 years

Office equipment and others 2-5 years

Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if
any, are reviewed annually.
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1

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ISR RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)  (BRBBFTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h) Leased assets

1 FESTHBERE)

(h HEEE

Atinception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the
use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration. To assess whether a
contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset, the Group assesses whether:

— the contract involves the use of an identified asset
— this may be specified explicitly or implicitly, and
should be physically distinct or represent
substantially all of the capacity of a physically
distinct asset. If the supplier has a substantive
substitution right, then the asset is not identified;

— the Group has the right to obtain substantially all
of the economic benefits from use of the asset
throughout the period of use; and

— the Group has the right to direct the use of the
asset. The Group has this right when it has the
decision-making rights that are most relevant to
changing how and for what purpose the asset in
used.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less and leases of low-value assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE IR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RSB - HUAARKETITR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h) Leased assets (Continued)

104

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot
be readily determined, using a relevant incremental
borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the lease liability
is measured at amortised cost and interest expense is
calculated using the effective interest method.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease
payment made at or before the commencement date,
and any initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable,
the cost of the right-of-use assets also includes an
estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the
underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or
the site on which it is located, discounted to their
present value, less any lease incentives received. The
right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change
in future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s
estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a
residual value guarantee, or there is a change arising
from the reassessment of whether the Group will be
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option. When the lease liability is
remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is
made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset,
or is recorded in profit or losses if the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets and lease

liabilities separately in the statements of financial
position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BERERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i) Creditlosses and impairment of assets

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses (ECLs) on financial assets
measured at amortised cost (including cash and
cash equivalents, restricted deposits with a bank,
trade and other receivables).

Financial assets measured at fair value are not
subject to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the
difference between the cash flows due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using
the following discount rates where the effect of
discounting is material:

— trade and other receivables: effective interest
rate determined at initial recognition or an
approximation thereof;

— variable-rate financial assets: current effective
interest rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE IR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

106

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i) Creditlosses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over

which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. This
includes information about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic

conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following

bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the

reporting date; and

— Life time ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible default
events over the expected lives of the items

to which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
ECLs on these financial assets are estimated using
a provision matrix based on the Group's historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors and an assessment of both
the current and forecast general economic

conditions at the reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BERERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECLs unless there has been a significant increase
in credit risk of the financial instrument since initial
recognition, in which case the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of
default occurring on the financial instrument
assessed at the reporting date with that assessed
at the date of initial recognition. In making this
reassessment, the Group considers that a default
event occurs when the borrower is unlikely to pay
its credit obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as realising
security (if any is held). The Group considers both
guantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE VIR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (BB B FTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i) Creditlosses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i) Creditlosses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition:

— failure to make payments of principal or
interest on their contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in a financial instrument’s
external or internal credit rating (if available);

— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor; and

— existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have a significant adverse
effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its
obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either an
individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis, the
financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due
status and credit risk ratings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BERERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit
risk since initial recognition. Any change in the ECL
amount is recognised as an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss for all financial
instruments with a corresponding adjustment to
their carrying amount through a loss allowance
account, except for investments in debt securities
that are measured at FVOCI (recycling), for which
the loss allowance is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the
fair value reserve (recycling).

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is
written off (either partially or in full) to the extent
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This
is generally the case when the Group determines
that the debtor does not have assets or sources of
income that could generate sufficient cash flows
to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a reversal
of impairment in profit or loss in the period in
which the recovery occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE VIR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (BB B FTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i) Creditlosses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may
be impaired or, an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment;
— right-of-use assets; and

— investment in a subsidiary in the Company’s
statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated.

—  Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset.
Where an asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent of those from
other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets
that generates cash inflows independently
(i.e. a cash-generating unit ("CGU")).
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1

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets

(Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BERERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE

1

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or the
cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated to reduce the
carrying amount of the assets in the unit (or
group of units) on a pro rata basis, except
that the carrying value of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in
use (if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or
loss in the period in which the reversals are
recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE IR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RSB - HUAARKETITR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

()

(k)

112

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue (see note 1(q)). A
contract liability would also be recognised if the Group
has an unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable
would also be recognised (see note 1(k)).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities
of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method (see note

H@)(iv)).
Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the

effective interest method less allowance for credit losses
(see note 2(b)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BERERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

m

(m)

(n)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other
financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash
equivalents are assessed for expected credit losses (ECL)
in accordance with the policy set out in note 1(i)(i).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value and are subsequently stated at amortised cost
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost.

Employee benefits
(i) Short term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and
the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in
the year in which the associated services are
rendered by employees. Where payment or
settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present
values.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE IR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(n) Employee benefits (Continued)

114

(ii) Contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations of
the PRC, the Group participates in a defined
contribution basic pension insurance in the social
insurance system established and managed by
government organisations. The Group makes
contributions to basic pension insurance plans
based on the applicable benchmarks and rates
stipulated by the government. Basic pension
insurance contributions are charged to profit or
loss as the related services are rendered by the

employees.

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier
of when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when it recognises
restructuring costs involving the payment of

termination benefits.

Icon Culture Global Company Limited 2019 Annual Report

(RSB - HUAARKETITR)

1

TEEFBER(E)
(n) EERF (&)
(i) EREEFCRMAREBIHER

(iii)

RIEFBEA AR MK
B AEEZ2EEBEER
ERNRARERE HBR
P I 1 48 5% AL B R O AL
SRIER R - RIBBFR]
RAEEREERER K
SERENERRSRRE
SR - ERERMHAAH
R EARKE RERH
B BRI

RIEEF

RIERAMRASE T B
BUB e i S8 A B kR
AREBHERS M LE
Bz BB (AR
BERE)HER



1

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BERERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(o)

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant
amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of
previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their
tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE IR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RSB - HUAARKETITR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(o)

116

Income tax (Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided
those differences relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to
reverse either in the same period as the expected
reversal of the deductible temporary difference or in
periods into which a tax loss arising from the deferred
tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same
criteria are adopted when determining whether existing
taxable temporary differences support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and
credits, that is, those differences are taken into account
if they relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a
period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be
utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from the initial recognition of assets or liabilities
that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit
(provided they are not part of a business combination),
and temporary differences relating to investment in a
subsidiary to the extent that, in the case of taxable
differences, the Group controls the timing of the reversal
and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in
the future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BERERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(o)

Income tax (Continued)

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow the related tax
benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to
the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Group or the
Company has the legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the
following additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Group or the Company intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if
they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

— the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered, intend
to realise the current tax assets and settle the
current tax liabilities on a net basis or realise
and settle simultaneously.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE IR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RSB - HUAARKETITR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(p)

(q)

118

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event,
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money
is material, provisions are stated at the present value of
the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the provision of services and the sales of
goods in the ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected
to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on
behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value added
tax ("VAT") and is after deduction of any trade discounts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BERERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(q) Revenue and other income (Continued)

Further details of the Group's revenue and other income

recognition policies are as follows:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Integrated multimedia advertising services

Revenue from integrated multimedia advertising
services is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the performance period for which the services are
rendered, or recognised when the Group fulfiled
the specific performance obligation under the
finalised contract terms with customers.

Public relations (“PR"”), marketing campaigns
and other services

Revenue from public relations, marketing
campaigns and other services is recognised when
the Group fulfiled the specific performance
obligation under the finalised contract terms with
customers.

Sales of goods

Revenue is recognised when the customer takes
possession of and accepts the products. If the
products are a partial fulfilment of a contract
covering other goods and/or services, then the
amount of revenue recognised is an appropriate
proportion of the total transaction price under the
contract, allocated between all the goods and
services promised under the contract on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE IR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RSB - HUAARKETITR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(q) Revenue and other income (Continued)

120

(iv)

(v)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
the effective interest method.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the
statement of financial position initially when there
is reasonable assurance that they will be received
and that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them. Grants that
compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as income in profit or loss on a
systematic basis in the same periods in which the
expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate
the Group for the cost of an asset are recognised
as deferred income and consequently are
effectively recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the useful life of the asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BERERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(r)

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of each
reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. The transaction date is the date on
which the Group or the Company initially recognises
such non-monetary assets or liabilities. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
that are stated at fair value are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value
was measured.

The results of foreign operations with functional
currency other than RMB are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement
of financial position items are translated into RMB at the
closing foreign exchange rates at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the exchange
reserve.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE VIR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (BB B FTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s) Related parties

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

() has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group's
parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

() The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries is
related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity

and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BERERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)  (BRBBFTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s) Related parties
(b)  (Continued)

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE IR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1

(RSB - HUAARKETITR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(t)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group's most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of the Group's various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

Note 24 contains information about the assumptions and
their risk factors relating to fair value of financial assets. Other
key sources of estimation uncertainty and critical accounting
judgments in the process of applying the Group's accounting
policies are described below.

(a) Principal versus agent considerations —

124

revenue from provision of advertising services

In determining whether the Group is acting as a
principal or as an agent in the provision of advertising
services, judgements and considerations of all relevant
facts and circumstances are required. The Group is a
principal in a transaction if the Group obtains control of
services provided before they are transferred to
customers. If control is unclear, when the Group is
primarily obligated in a transaction, and has latitude in
establishing prices and selecting publishers, or has
several but not all of these indicators, the Group records
revenues on a gross basis. Otherwise, the Group records
the net amount earned as commissions from services
provided.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A UK MEE
For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)  (BRBBFTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

2 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES 2 SDETHETRAEE (&)
(Continued)

(b) EZREMEVRRIRENEGE

(b) Loss allowance for trade and other receivables

The Group estimates the loss allowances for trade and
other receivables by assessing the ECLs. This requires
the use of estimates and judgements. ECLs are
estimated based on a number of factors which include
ageing of overdue trade receivables, historical payment
profiles and the corresponding historical credit losses
rate of the Group's customers, current market conditions
and forecast of future economic conditions, and with
reference to expected credit loss rates of comparable
companies in the same industry at the end of each
reporting period. Where the estimation is different from
the original estimate, such difference will affect the
carrying amounts of trade and other receivables and
thus the impairment loss in the period in which such
estimate is changed. The Group keeps assessing the
expected credit loss of trade receivables during their
expected lives while assessing the expected credit loss
of other receivables during 12 months unless there has
been significant increase in credit risk since the initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE IR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RSB - HUAARKETITR)

2 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

(c)

Recognition of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets in respect of deductible temporary
differences carried forward are recognised and
measured based on the expected manner of realisation
or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets, using
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period. In determining the carrying
amounts of deferred tax assets, expected taxable profits
are estimated which involves a number of assumptions
relating to the operating environment of the Group and
requires significant level of judgement exercised by the
directors. Any change in such assumptions and
judgement would affect the carrying amounts of
deferred tax assets to be recognised and hence the net
profit in future years.

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(a) Revenue

126

The principal activities of the Group are rendering
traditional offline media advertising, online media
advertising, PR, marketing campaigns and other services.
Further details regarding the Group’s principal activities
are disclosed in note 3(b).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless other:

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 3
(Continued)

(a) Revenue (Continued)
Disaggregation of revenue

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers by major service lines is as follows:

(BRBBMIEIN - HAAREIIR)

wise indicated)

Wz K o &S (&)

XEEFPANNKDREER

2019 2018
2019 F 20184
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR TR ARETTT
Revenue from contracts with ERMEHRELER
customers within the scope F15HEERN
of HKFRS 15 REEFFEHNE
Disaggregated by major service lines EEXEZREEN DT
Traditional offline media advertising EHR T RS E SRS
services
— acting as a principal —1EEFEEMITA 133,045 169,003
Online media advertising services B EREEERY
— acting as a principal —EREFEFMEA 8,707 12,249
— acting as an agent — EARIE 986 2,221
PR, marketing campaigns and other N - EHEE RHA
services* Pk 7% *
— acting as a principal —1EREEZEERMEA 7,361 25,468
150,099 208,941
*  Revenue from PR, marketing campaigns includes KERAH - 2HEFIWER

revenue of sales of goods.

BREEEMAKES
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE VIR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (BB B FTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)
(a) Revenue (Continued)
Disaggregation of revenue (Continued)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers by timing is disclosed in note 3(b)(i).

Disaggregation of revenue by geographical market is
disclosed in note 3(b)(iii).

The Group's customers with whom transactions have
exceeded 10% of the Group's revenue in the respective
year are set out below:

3

Wz K 7o &R E (&)

(a) Wz (&)

Wz 5l (4])

>

RERFAHRWEIZRERED
DHIFBIEE3(0)() I EE ©

Ui %5 ¥ 1b 33 T 35 B9 9 51 A B 5
3(b)(jii) # F& ©

AEEEEETHRHEBBEN
SEEEFEREI0%HNEP
ol -

2019 2018
2019 & 2018 €
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT AREBTT

Customer A 2P A N/A* 733 F * 31,467
Customer B Z5B 78,526 85,593
Customer C EPC 26,351 N/A* A>3 A *
* Revenue from relevant customer was less than 10% of

the Group's total revenue for the respective year.

Details of concentrations of credit risk arising from these
customers are set out in note 24(a).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ISR RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)  (BRBBFTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)

(b) Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which
are organised by business lines. In a manner consistent
with the way in which information is reported internally
to the Group's most senior executive management for

3 WmkoHHE (FH)

(b) 72 EBFE

AEBEBREBGEKD B
BIEER - MERAAKERS
BITHREEAEREREE M
RIAFFA R EREE & B — 2

the purposes of resource allocation and performance AR AEBEBEE2H NI =1E

assessment, the Group has presented the following
three reportable segments. No operating segments

AR E S E o AL D B AR
B P AMERA T A HE 5 &6 -

have been aggregated to form the following reportable

television and other broadcasting channels,
newspapers, journals, public transports, elevators
and lifts;

Online media advertising services: operation of
media advertising services on selected websites,
online social media groups and Apps;

PR, marketing campaigns and other services:
assisting in launching campaigns and events to
promote brands, services and products of the
Group's customers;

segments.
— Traditional offline media advertising services: — ERSTEHEESRE:
operation of media advertising services on RERREMERRES -

#&*‘ SLEZ/ NS Sg
BRI RS RRE
HIRTS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE IR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RSB FEESN

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

130

(i) Segmentresults, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment
performance and allocating resources between
segments, the Group's senior executive
management monitors the results attributable to
each reportable segment on the following bases:

Revenue and costs are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by
those segments and the costs incurred by those
segments or which otherwise arise from the
depreciation of assets attributable to those
segments. However, assistance provided by one
segment to another, including sharing of assets, is

not measured.

The Group’s senior executive management is
provided with segment information concerning
segment revenue and profit. Segment assets and
liabilities are not reported to the Group’s senior

executive management regularly.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is
“adjusted EBITDA" i.e. “adjusted earnings before
finance costs, interest income, taxes and
depreciation”. To arrive at adjusted EBITDA the
Group's earnings are further adjusted for items not
specifically attributed to individual segments, such
as listing expenses, staff costs, directors’ and
auditors’ remuneration and other head office or

corporate administration costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)  (BRBBFTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 3
(Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

(i)

Segment results, assets and liabilities
(Continued)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers by the timing of revenue recognition,
as well as information regarding the Group’s
reportable segments as provided to the Group's
most senior executive management for the
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance for each of the years ended
31 December 2019 and 2018 is set out below.

Wi Rk o EE®E (&)
(b) 2 EBEE (M)
i) 7WEE - BEERAERE

BHZE 2019 K& 2018F 12 A
JNHIESFE - mERUY
=REIENREEFE
HEd s - AR AEE R
SEBITHREERASRSA
AASERREDHHNE
B A EETEIR D B
Mo EREFTE) - FHEW
"|? °

Traditional PR,
offline Online  marketing
media media campaigns
advertising advertising  and other
For the year ended 31 December2019 B Z2019F 12 A31 ALLFE services services services Total
B DR EH
BTRE @SLRE EBR
EERE EERE  HRE At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AR%TRE ARBTRT ARBTRT AR%TR
Disaggregated by timing of revenue BEAREERSE
recognition
Point in time ENES TR - 9,105 3,363 12,468
Over time REERRER 133,045 588 3,998 137,631
Reportable segment revenue AHEDBKE 133,045 9,693 7,361 150,099
Reportable segment (loss)/profit AHED B (HR),/ %7
(adjusted EBITDA) (BEARBBER - FISRA
RERFTEABR) (19,180) 5,672 2,570 (10,938)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RSB - HUAARKETITR)

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 3 WEkoHBHE (&)
(Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) 2 EBHRE (&)
(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities i) 7PEEEBE - EEREE
(Continued) (&)
Traditional PR,
offline Online marketing
media media  campaigns
advertising  advertising and other
For the year ended 31 December 2018 BZE018F12ANBLEFE services services services Total
B N
BTEE MLge NS
BERE  BERE  EtRS w5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREBTT ARBTT AR®TR
Disaggregated by timing of revenue BEAREERSE
recognition
Point in time ENESHER - 9,093 3533 12,626
Over time BEEERERER 169,003 5377 21,935 196,315
Reportable segment revenue AHEDBWE 169,003 14,470 25468 208941
Reportable segment profit AREDBER
(adjusted EBITDA) (BEARNBER - FISBA -
RERFTEANBRR) 32575 5,798 10,666 49,039
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3

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

(ii)

(iiii)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BERERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBBMIEIN - HAAREIIR)

3 WmkoHHE (FH)

Reconciliations of reportable segment profits

(i) AT E 2 AR AV AR

2019 2018
2019 F 20184
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETTT
Reportable segment (loss)/profit ARE DI (E8),/
i A (10,938) 49,039

Depreciation e
— Property, plant and equipment  — ¥1% ~ BB NRE (608) (344)
— Right-of-use assets —FREEE (8,688) (6,207)
Finance costs HBEA (613) (485)
Other revenue H W zs 1,229 2,798
Unallocated head office and AOBRB AR M1

corporate expenses and other F S A R B B 2

expenses (31,937) (20,084)
Consolidated (loss)/profit before LA A (BE),

taxation i ) (51,555) 24,717

Geographic information

All of the Group’s revenue and assets are

generated and located in the PRC.

2019 FEH RANABEBRERERAE

(iii) WEER

AREBEMA WS MEEY
KB RARPE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE VIR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (BB B FTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

4 OTHERREVENUE 4 Hflzs

2019 2018

2019 % 2018 4F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T AREFTT

Interest income FLEU A 217 208

Investment income LE WA 28 329

Government grants (i) BT A () 372 2,261

Others HAth 612 -

1,229 2,798
() Government grant represent various forms of incentives () BUAS 8 Bh 38 AR B Hb 75 BUAT A4 8
and subsidies granted to the Group unconditionally by BEMRTAEETNRERZ

the local government authorities in the PRC. HeRED -
5 OTHER NET INCOME/(LOSS) 5 HthlA (F518) 38

2019 2018

2019 2018 F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARET T

Changes in fair value of financial assets € fIEE AL BEE D) = (1,225)
Foreign exchange gain HNE U R 150 -
Others HAh (7) (243)
143 (1,468)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A UK MEE
For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)  (BRBBFTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 6 BR¥iAN(EE), EF
(Loss)/profit before taxation is arrived at after (crediting)/ LR (E1R),Sa F 04 (R ), /40
charging: bR TS IBEER
(a) Finance costs (a) BIHEEH
2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT AREBTT

Interest on lease liabilities HEBEFE 613 412
Other interest expenses HH B - /3
613 485

(b) Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) (b) ETIRA (BREESHS)
2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT AREBTT

Salaries, wages, bonuses and benefits ¥4 « T& - {E4L &2 F] 7,908 8,339
Contributions to retirement schemes 3R K5t &It 5% 668 650

8,576 8,989
The Group has no other material obligations for PR bt KoM - AR B R
payments of pension benefits beyond the contributions EHMEREF RN EKNT
described above. £
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE VIR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (BB B FTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

6 (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued) 6 BRB{AT (E1E) %R ()
(c) Otheritems () H#ER
2019 2018
20194 20184F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR TR ARETT
Media costs BRI 153,797 144,032
Costs for PR, marketing campaigns A8 « & /5 N HAth
and other services Rk 7% X A 4,665 14,654
Depreciation e
— Property, plant and equipment  — ¥1% « B MR E 608 344
— Right-of-use assets — REEE 8,688 6,207
(Reversal)/recognition of credit losses (#[E) #ER{= 1B KB
allowance for
— Trade receivables — B G REWEIA (81) 521
— Other receivables — HE bl EIE 1,500 -
Auditors’ remuneration % 5 Al 57 B 1,650 -
Listing expenses WX 17,819 142
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A UK MEE
For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)  (BRBBFTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7 REEZRVAEHR
STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statements of (a) mEBEERBIEIE:
profit or loss represents:

2019 2018
2019 % 2018 €
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARBTT

Current tax (note 22(a)) BIHASLIE (/17 22(a))
Provision for Hong Kong Profits tax ~ FIN&E B 1S F B &

for the year 19 -
Provision for PRC income tax FANRREAEHEE

for the year - 6,739
Deferred tax ERERIE
Origination of temporary differences E A E R =58 (M 3£ 22(b))

(note 22(b)) (9,285) (494)

(9,266) 6,245
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE VIR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (BB B FTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

7

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7 HFREBRmRNAMEHR (&)

STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation between tax (benefit)/expense (b) REAHRFTENBE(K
and accounting (loss)/profit at applicable tax W)/ AXEET(EE), %
rates: FIHVE AR -

2019 2018
2019 20184F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARBTT

(Loss)/profit before taxation bR ET () SHE A (51,555) 24,717

Notional tax on profit before taxation, /5 B8R &1 Bl A 80 2 &
calculated at the rates applicable I - LE AR

to profits in the jurisdiction BARE R S A AR R
concerned (note (i) T8 (MaE ) (9,268) 6,179

Effect of non-deductible expenses TR HNFHH X A2 2 15 66

Fffect of non-taxable income RHBARZE (13) -

Income tax (benefit)/expense FTE 8 (W), /X (9,266) 6,245

Note: Htaz -

() Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman ) BEFRSHESNRAEEH
Islands and the BV, the Group is not subject to any SHRB LR KEEH
income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI. ARMESEE NEE R

SRR o

The Group's subsidiary in Hong Kong is a qualifying REERBEBZHMBLRAR
corporation under the two-tiered Profits Tax rate SRS & ERDZE

regime, and the first HK$2 million of assessable profits B2H &8 7T BRI A A
are taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable profits 8.25% HI Mt KT - MER T FE
are taxed at 16.5%. FRA R I LA 16 5% R H o

The statutory income tax rate for the PRC subsidiaries is BB A B EEE SR
25% (2018: 25%). H525% (2018 4F : 25%) °
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation are as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2019

(BRBBMIEIN - HAAREIIR)

8 EEM&
RIERE R THEBIZE 3830 IR IA KA

ARAIFE 2B (REESNRER) T
BOESMET

HBZ2019F12A31BLFE

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits Discretionary scheme
fees in kind bonuses contributions Total
I% fEh BIK
ExHe RENEAN MERAL R @5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR¥Tr AR®TR AR%®TR AR%Tx
Executive directors BTES
Mr. Chow Eric Tse To BrELRE - - = = =
Ms. Cai Xiaoshan B+ - - - - -
Mr. Lau Tung Hei Derek AREEAE - - - - -
Mr. Liu Biao AExsE - 583 103 32 718
Ms. Liang Wei DRI T - 604 145 32 781
Sub-total INEE - 1,187 248 64 1,499
Independent non-executive BUFHBTES
directors
Mr. Lee Siu Hang Foster (note (i) FIEEAE (5 () = = - - -
Mr. Tian Tao (note (i) RS E () - - - - -
Ms. Tam Hon Shan Celia (note (j) EEM L (H20) - = = - -
Sub-total et - - - - -
Total @t - 1,187 248 64 1,499

2019 FEH RANABEBREBERAT | 139



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE
(BrBHFTIEIN -

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

8 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2018

HUARKEFIR)

8 EEM=(H)

HBZ2018F12A31BLEE

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’  and benefits  Discretionary scheme
fees inkind bonuses  contributions Total
IE - ffh RIK
EXHe  REDEA BEIELT BEESS w5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETL AREFT ARETT ARBTT AR%T:R
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Chow Eric Tse To AFELELE - - - - -
Ms. Cai Xiaoshan EEWLT - - - - -
Mr. Lau Tung Hei Derek R EAE - - - - -
Mr. Liu Biao EllEbe - 504 51 30 585
Ms. Liang Wei REL+ - 554 48 32 634
Total @5t - 1058 99 62 1219
Note: Hiat -
() Mr. Lee Siu Hang Foster, Ms. Tam Hon Shan Celia and Mr. Tian () FIREBEE - BEMAZETREEL

Tao were appointed as independent non-executive director

on 11 December 2019.

There was no amounts paid or payable by the Group to the
directors or any of the 5 highest paid individuals set out in
note 9 below as an inducement to join or upon joining

Company or the Group or as a compensation for loss of office.
No directors waived or agreed to waive any emolument

during the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BERERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the 5 individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2018:
two) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 8.
The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other
three (2018: three) individuals are as follows:

REFMAL

EsB &= HEMA

(BRBBMIEIN - HAAREIIR)

+2%(2018

F2R)RESE  EHMNAMNESHE
= AEEM3IBRATL(2018%F : 34)
REEzEs R ¢

2019 2018
20195 20184
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFIT
Salaries and other emoluments 4 N E fth 2 B 1,018 1,101
Discretionary bonuses [l EREEAN 192 117
Retirement scheme contributions  ERREHE|{H K 96 94
1,306 1,312
The emoluments of the three (2018: three) individuals with 3% (2018F 1 3R ) I A LAY
the highest emoluments are within the following bands: HENFLATEE
2019 2018
2019 % 20184
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A8 AEL
Nil to HKD1,000,000 Z £ 1,000,000 BT 3 3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE IR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RSB - HUAARKETITR)

10 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

11

Tax effects relating to each component of other

10 HitzmEksE

FRAEMEEWESARTDI N

comprehensive income M EE
2019 2018
2019% 20185
Before-tax Tax  Net-oftax  Before-tax Tax Net-of tax
amount expense amount amount expense amount
BaeE  BEEY RBALE  FieE HEEX RiKeE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO
ARETT AR®Trn AR%TR ARETR ARETR ARET:T
Exchange differences on translation of BREVHERARK(ERDRE
financial information of entities not EEHREZMBRERN
using RMB as functional currency EREE (194) = (194) - - -
(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 11 SR(EE) B
(a) Basic (loss)/earnings per share (a) BREX(ER) BRI
The basic (loss)/earnings per share of the Company for HE2019F12A3HIEFE -
the year ended 31 December 2019 is calculated based AR BREXR(EBE) BT
on the loss for the year of approximately RMB42,289,000 DIRBEAFEEBEENARE
(2018: profit of approximately RMB18,472,000) and the 42,289,000 7T (2018 4F : Jm M &I A
weighted average of 135,000,000 ordinary shares, R #18,472,0007T ) & 135,000,000
comprising 1,000 ordinary shares issued at 31 December MmN F A E (BE
2019 and 134,999,000 ordinary shares issued pursuant 720194 12 A 31 HE1TAY 1,000
to the capitalisation issue (note 23), as if the above total I B AR MARIR & ANMb B 1T (B
of 135,000,000 ordinary shares were outstanding 5¥23) M 31T 2 134,999,000 i &
throughout the years ended 31 December 2019 and AR - B0 A 3135000000
2018. P 3 AR 0 B E 2019 F £ 2018
F12A3BIEFERFARE
BB EITEIN o
(b) Diluted earnings per share (b) BRESEZR
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During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018,
there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares issued.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A UK MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE
(BREEEIN - HUAARKETITR)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12 ¥ BERKE

Office
Motor equipment
vehicles and others Total
WARE
RE R HAM HmEt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTT ARETFIT ARETIT
Cost: A
At 1 January 2018 R2018%F 1 H1H 1,123 285 1,408
Additions NE - 169 169
At 31 December 2018 and R2018F 12 A31H K
1 January 2019 20194F1 A1 H 1123 454 1577
Additions NE - 998 998
Disposals e - (213) (213)
At 31 December 2019 M2019%F 12 A31H 1,123 1,239 2,362
Accumulated depreciation: R E .
At 1 January 2018 R 201841 A1H (93) (193) (286)
Charge for the year F AR (278) (66) (344)
At 31 December 2018 and M2018F 12 A31 B X
1 January 2019 20191 H1H (371) (259) (630)
Charge for the year FRNER (278) (330) (608)
Written back on disposals H E R A - 21 21
At 31 December 2019 2019 12 A31H (649) (378) (1,027)
Net book value: BRMEFE -
At 31 December 2019 72019 12 A31 H 474 861 1,335
At 31 December 2018 R2018%F 12 A31H 752 195 947
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE VIR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(BRBAEPTIEIN - HLANREBTIR)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

13 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 13 EREEE

ERASEEREARBANEEER

Information about leases for which the Group is a lessee is

144

presenting as below: HyT -
Advertising
spaces and
billboards Office Total
BENMR
EE&ER WAE et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR®TT AR®ETT
Cost: RN :
At 1 January 2018 720181 A1 H - 3,268 3,268
Additions NE 18,479 - 18,479
At 31 December 2018 and 2018F 12 A31 B KX
1 January 2019 20191 A1H
18,479 3,268 21,747
Reassessment/remeasurement BIFHEEFRTE
(note (ii)) (Bt i) (1,087) (540) (1,627)
Disposals k= (3,887) - (3,887)
At 31 December 2019 72019512 A31 H 13,505 2,728 16,233
Accumulated depreciation: R E .
At 1 January 2018 R2018F 1 A1 H - (166) (166)
Charge for the year F AR (5,542) (665) (6,207)
At 31 December 2018 and R2018F 12 A31B X
1 January 2019 20191 A18 (5,542) (831) 6,373)
Charge for the year FRIRR (8,074) (614) (8,688)
Written back on disposals HE R E 3,887 - 3,887
At31December2019 2019 12A31H ©729 ... (445 Q1174
Net book value: BRENFE -
At 31 December 2019 2019 12 A31 H 3,776 1,283 5,059
At 31 December 2018 M2018F 12 H31H 12,937 2,437 15374
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BERERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)  (BRBBFTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

13 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 13
Notes:

() The Group leases advertising spaces and billboards and an
office expiring from 1.3 to 3 years. All leases include an option
to renew the lease when all terms are renegotiated. None of
the leases includes variable lease payments.

(i) Reassessment and remeasurement of right-of-use assets for
the year ended 31 December 2019 were mainly due to future
rental fee or rental period adjustments.

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised
in profit or loss is as follows:

ERAEEE (&)

st -

)

(i)

AREBHHEESMRESEIAL—
ALz BHPRI3EIFARE
e FTEHER S EABENNE
B [EREHER A RR o HE
HERSFHHEEMNK -

EHMEEHE2019F12A31H
EFEZEREEEDEEHARK

ERREaRANEE 2 MXIER

DT
2019 2018
2019 5 2018 FF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARBTT

Interest on lease liabilities HEAEBEMNE 613 412
Expenses relating to short-term leases BRARBEENRX = 1415
613 1,827

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity
analysis of lease liabilities are set out in notes 18(d) and 21,
respectively.

ERHEERSRELABEIEERE
IR DM IS D B E M
18(d) Az 21 °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE VIR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (BB B FTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

14 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES 14 RMBARRE
Proportion of ownership interest
P )
Place of Particulars of Group's
incorporation issued and effective Held by Held by
Name of company and business paid up capital interest theCompany  asubsidiary Principal activity Legal entity
BETR EEREH
ARER MR ER LR BRBRAFE EBRNZE  ARARBE WELARAEE IEXH EA
Inspiring Chance Holding  British Virgin Islands Us$1 100% 100% - Investment holding Limited liability
Limited company
ERELBS 1%L REER BREEAR
Shining Glow Limited Hong Kong HKST 100% - 100%  Investment holding Limited liability
company
B 17T REER BREARR
Icon Media (note) Guangzhou, the PRC RMB36,820,000 100% - 100% Integrated multimedia  Limited liability
advertising services company
KA () RN AR 36820000 7T FASBRERERE ARAELR
Note: Icon Media is a wholly foreign owned enterprise in the PRC BfaF 0 REMVEE A —FERPEMING
and the official name is in Chinese. The English translation of BEME HEFAWMAERX -
the name is for reference only. HEM o BERERSRE -
15 FINANCIAL ASSETS 15 TREE
2019 2018
2019 20184F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMTRT ARETT
Financial assets at FVPL BARBEFABRZ
TREE
Unlisted equity securities JEETERMES - 1,775
The unlisted equity securities represented a 20% equity EETRESUBSE —HAEEY
interests in a private media company in the PRC, over which HUmEEESRIAEBEERTE
the Group did not have control or significant influence. The TIHY R BIRL & I 88 2 )Y 200 ARAE ©
equity interest in Guangzhou Longyan was disposed in BEINBER HIRRAEE R 2019F 1 HAA
January 2019 for RMB1,775,000 and the consideration was R#q 775000t & ZREER
fully settled by February 2019. 20192 AR EUF(E -
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

16 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ISR RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE

16 EZREMEWRRIA

(RSB FEESN

HUARKEFIR)

2019 2018
20195 20184
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
iik23 ARET T AREFIT
Current B
Trade debtors B SRR 42,872 60,817
Less: Credit loss allowance T {E R EHE 24(a) (522) (603)
Subtotal N 42,350 60,214
Deposit and prepayments MEBN AR IRE K
for media costs A F0E 22,934 3,119
Rental and services deposits MekR%iEe 2,668 3,660
Deferred listing expenses BE ETRAE 10,286 47
Prepayments for income tax PRSI TR F0R 22(a) 3,255 -
Others Hith 1,582 37
Less: loss allowance of other B B eI GRIE
receivables B E (1,500) -
Subtotal /NE 39,225 6,863
81,575 67,077

Rental deposits might be recovered after more than one year.
All of the trade and other receivables apart from rental
deposits are expected to be recovered or recognised as

expense within one year.

Hekea R —F&RIKE - BeR
TRINNFTE B 5 N H B U IR
BN —F AR B ER R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE VIR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (BB B FTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

16 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
(a) Ageing analysis
As at 31 December 2019, the ageing analysis of trade

receivables, based on the date of revenue recognition
and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

16 ESZREMEWFIE(E)
(a) BRERZDAT
MR2019F12A318  ESER

FIBR B M R M e B HA I H1 B
EBEBEENREDITIOT

2019 2018
2019 & 2018 €
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT AREBTT

Within 1 month —EAR 34,573 29,047
1to 3 months —Z2={@A 6,000 23,559
Over 3 months =EAU 1,813 7,608

42,350 60,214

Trade receivables are due within 15 to 180 days from
the date of revenue recognition. Further details on the
Group's credit policy are set out in note 24(a).

17 RESTRICTED DEPOSITS WITH A BANK
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the restricted deposits

with a bank amounting to RMB7,342,420 was required by the
court due to a litigation dispute (note 25).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A UK MEE
For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)  (BRBBFTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 18 BERBREEEY
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (a) RERBEEEYEE -
2019 2018
2019 % 2018 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT AREBTT

Cash at bank RITHE 28,841 35972
Cash on hand FEHES 11 36
28,852 36,008
At 31 December 2019, cash and cash equivalents placed R2019F 12 A31 8 » TR
with banks in the mainland China amounted to AT HE MRS EE
RMB28,604,000 (2018: RMB36,008,000) . Remittance of ) B A R ® 28,604,000 7T (2018
funds out of mainland China is subject to the relevant £ AR #36,0080007T ) ° #t
rules and regulations of foreign exchange control REANMEEESEEBTE
promulgated by the PRC government. KT 78 0 9 4 8 SN B o1 AR Bl
KR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REEmRMET
For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(RSB - HUAARKETITR)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued) 18 HERBRELEEY (&)

(b) BRELAT(EE) (RFELE

(b) Reconciliation of (loss)/profit before taxation

to cash generated from operations: ISR SEER -
2019 2018
2019 F 20184
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Kat ARETRT ARETT
(Loss)/profit before taxation BrELAT (B518), (51,555) 24,717
Adjustments for: BT BRI
R
Depreciation e
— Property, plant and equipment  — Y12 lREKRE 6.0 608 344
— Right-of-use assets —EREEE 6(c) 8,688 6,207
(Reversal)/recognition of credit 2 5 W IEE A
losses allowance for trade BREE
receivables (BM@) HER 6(c) (81) 521
Credit losses allowance for other — E {th fE U A IE /= B
receivables BREE 6(c) 1,500 -
Investment income TERA 4 (28) (329)
Finance costs MisE A 6(a) = 73
Foreign exchange gain HNEE U 25 5 (150) -
Loss arising from disposals of HEME - BEK
property, plant and equipment RIEEE 2 -
Changes in fair value of other HMeREEAN
financial assets EEZS 5 - 1,225
Changes in working capital: BEESEE
Increase in restricted deposits FRE—RERITH
with a bank PR 77 BRI AN - (7,342)
Increase in trade and other 2B 5 RHEAFEK
receivables FRIBIE AN (12,664) (38,373)
Increase in trade and other B 5 N E M FRIE
payables and contract liabilities EE#Ha &N 95,122 18,666
Cash generated from REmBRE
operations 41,442 5,709
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued)

(c)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

financing activities:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BERERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE

(BRBBMIEIN - HAAREIIR)

18 RERRESEEY (&)
) MEFBDRELEAGENY

Other than those disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, the table below
details changes in the Group’s liabilities from financing
activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities
for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group’s consolidated statements of
cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

BE -

RieMBRRSBRESE
9|\ C TRANEEREZDE
AMBEZHFE BRERE
MR BT  METHES
MBEENRBESMEIARKRIR
ERERAEEZAHEERE
X0 BEAREEDREMNEN
BfE-

Lease Other Interest
liabilities payables payment Total
ity

HEEE REARE FEAR @t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR

Balance at 1 January 2018 R20185E1 A1 AMER 3,058 - - 3,058
Changes from financing cash flows: MERERESE

Advance from a third party —ZE=HBH; - 5,000 - 5,000

Repayment to a third party M—RE=HER - (5,000) - (5,000)

Payment of lease liabilities HEBENR (5,594) - - (5,594)

Interest paid RS - - (73) (73)

Total changes from financing cash flows REREREEERE (5,594) - (73) (5,667)

Other changes: Hitt 2 g

Addition of lease liabilities HEREEM 16,895 - - 16,895

Interest expense FIERY - - 73 73

Total other changes Hib & gham 16,895 - 73 16,968

Balance at 31 December 2018 R2018E12 831 HNESR 14,359 - - 14,359
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE IR R M A
For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (BB B FTIEIN - HAAREETIR)
18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued) 18 RERALEEYW(E)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (c) MMEETBFELEGENY
financing activities: (Continued) iR ()
Lease Other Interest
liabilities payables payment Total
Hith
HEAfE EAFE FEAX @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR AR®TR AR%TR
Balance at 1 January 2019 R2019%F1 B 1 BIE S 14,359 - - 14,359
Changes from financing cash flows: MERERELE
Payment of lease liabilities HEBENK (7,830) - - (7,830)
Total changes from financing cash flows RERSNELHEE (7,830) = = (7,830)
Other change: Hitt @&
Reassessment/iemeaswrement.  BATHE/EAAE nem o )
Balance at 31 December 2019 R2019F12 A31 ANER 4,902 = S 4,902
(d) Total cash outflow for leases: (d) HERSRHEEE:
2019 2018
2019 20184F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARET T
Within operating cash flows REEREME 613 1,827
Within financing cash flows REERERE 7,830 5,594
Total cash outflow for leases HERS M E 8,443 7421
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BERERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)  (BRBBFTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

19 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

19 BFRHEMENRE

2019 2018
2019 & 2018 €
Note RMB’000 RMB'000

fft et ARBTRT ARETET

Trade payables B S ENFIA 98,168 22,725
Other tax payables H {th B 738 1,616 4276
Payroll payables ERTE 1,016 1,093

Provision for litigation AR E R G
compensation 25 1,778 1,709
Others HAh 18,370 4,163
120,948 33,966

The provision for litigation is payable to the counterparty after
final count decision, which might be made after more than
one year. All of trade and other payables apart from provision
for litigation are expected to be settled within one year or are
repayable on demand.

The credit period granted by the suppliers is between 10 and
120 days.

As of the end of each of the reporting period, the ageing
analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice date, is as

AR B AN R 1R VR FEHUR R B A
THF T (ATRER —FARIEL) -
FrakRasrar B EmINNE 5 R H A&
NHRBARHR —FRBEELIREKX

igh yoo
B

B

HEFRTFTHOEEHNT10E120K °

BERRMEHRR EHERNRER
BERZHHNKREOTOT

follows:
2019 2018
2019 5 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T ARETIT
Within 1 month — (@ AR 10,554 17,073
1to 3 months —Z=={@AH 38,687 4278
Over 3 months =EANUE 48,927 1,374
98,168 22,725
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RE VIR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (BB B FTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

20 CONTRACT LIABILITIES 20 EHAE
2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT AREBTT

Services fees received in advance B EFHREE

from customers 8,781 4,188
Services fees received in advance from customers are FBWEFHREENNBREELGE
recorded as contract liabilities in the consolidated statements BBk REEEAEB VAR - 124
of financial position at the time of receipt. Revenue from RFBFT SN IRIEM T 1) FTE S
provision of services is recognised according to the FTECRIER ©

accounting policy set out in note 1(g).

Movements in contract liabilities EREBEH
2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARKBTT

At the beginning of the year F 4 4,188 5713
Decrease in contract liabilities as AERAE T AFIENEAER
a result of recognising revenue FRRREBNENEERD

during the year that was included
in the contract liabilities at the

beginning of the year (4,164) (5,713)

Increase in contract liabilities as RIEW R TBEE A LB EE N
a result of receipt in advance 8,757 4,188
8,781 4,188
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ISR RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)  (BRBBFTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

LEASE LIABILITIES 21 HESE
The following table shows the remaining contractual TREHAKREEBE R 2019 K 20184
maturities of the Group's lease liabilities as at 31 December of NAJNEMNEESER TELEH
2019 and 2018: AL -
31 December 2019 31 December 2018
2019F12A31H 2018 12A31R
Present value Present value
of the Total of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments

REERE  REER SEHE  SEHE
NRBE  AREE  OFRE  OReE
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB00O RMB000
ARBTRE AR®TR ARETT AR®TR

WY e TR A0S 288 832 .. e
After 1 year but within 2 years —FREMER 809 847 4,494 4638
After 2 years but within 5 years MERBRAFR - - 1233 1287
_____________________________________________________________________ s S e A it
4,902 5,135 14,359 15,072
Less: total future interest expenses W REF B eE (233) (713)
Present value of lease liabilities HERERE 4,902 14359
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RE VIR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (BB B FTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

22 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 22 FREPBRAKRAES
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(a) Current taxation in the consolidated (a) e BRI KRENHETH B
statements of financial position represents: i5 -
2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARBTT

At the beginning of the year FE 4] 4,729 5411
Provision for Hong Kong Profits tax  4F & 78 FI 15 4 1

for the year (note 7(a)) (Kt (7a)) 19 -
Provision for PRC income tax FRFPEIFTEHEHE

for the year (note 7(a)) (K17t (7a)) - 6,739
Income tax paid during the year FHRNENAEN (7,984) (7,421)
At the end of the year FR (3,236) 4,729
Representing: 3

Prepaid current tax under trade and ~ TEf- & 5 K H 4th fE I F IR

other receivables (note 16) BVERRRIE (M7t 16) 3,255 -
Current tax payables JE < B EA TS 18 (19) (4,729)
3,236 4,729)
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(Continued)

(i)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BERERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)  (BRBBFTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 22 REMBRRKRMAEHR (&)
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised (b) ERRPELEHEEERAE
Movement of each component of deferred (i) EZEREEEREERE
tax assets and liabilities B EB 5 Y 52 B
The component of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) FREVE 20194 K& 2018 FF 12
recognised in the consolidated statements of A3BIEFE EHEEAH
financial position and the movements during the T AR O 3R HE SR A 1R AE 7 18
year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as BE/(8E)WAKRITS
follows: LEEEMT -
Provision for
Payables and Credit loss litigation
Accruals allowance compensation Others Total
ERHER
EER GRELRE FARERE Htt @t
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
ARBTT ARBTr AREFR ARETT ARETR
At 1 January 2018 7201851 418 - 2 401 5 47
Credited to profitorloss (note 7() ~ sF AB# (Hit 7)) - 129 - 365 494
At 31 Decernber 2018 and R018FE1ANAER
1 January 2019 W019%1A18 - 150 401 370 91
Credited/(charged) to profitorloss 5 AJB%/(BIEZINB)
(note 7(a) (K 76) 9,186 355 44 (300) 9,285
At31 December 2019 M019% 125318 9,186 505 445 70 10,206
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RE IR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (BB B FTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

23 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(a) Share capital

(i) Authorised share capital of the Company

23 BEXR - HEERRE
(a) BA&
(i) AATHEERRK

Number of Nominal value

158

shares of shares
RGO E IR0 EE
HKS
BT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each  ERXEI{E0.01 /BT 2
As at 24 April 2019 7201954 H24H
(dated of incorporation) (zEfpk >z 2 B ER) 38,000,000 380,000
Addition NE 1,962,000,000 19,620,000
As at 31 December 2019 R2019F 12 A31H 2,000,000,000 20,000,000
The Company was incorporated in the Cayman RN A R2019% 4 H24H

Islands under the Companies Law as an exempted
company with limited liability on 24 April 2019
with an initial authorised share capital of
HK$380,000 divided into 38,000,000 shares with a
par value of HK$0.01 each.

Pursuant to the resolutions in writing of the
shareholders passed on 11 December 2019, the
authorised share capital of the Company was
increased from HK$380,000 to HK$20,000,000 by
the creation of 1,962,000,000 new shares with a
par value of HK$0.01 each to rank pari passu with
the then existing shares in all respects.
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ks B —FIEREBR
RNAEl NEEERRNB
3800008 7T * 49438000000
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BIEIER T 2019F 12 A 11
HRBZEMARER B
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ISR RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)  (BRBBFTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

23 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

(a) Share capital (Continued)

(ii) Issued and fully paid share capital of the

Company

23 BX - @EkKE (&)

(a) BRAE(RE)

(i) AAFEHRTRBRKRE

Number of Nominal value

shares of shares
RGEE IR EE
HKS
ETT
At 31 December 2019 2019612 4318
(Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each) (MK EE 0015 7T
2 EmR) 1,000 10

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to
receive dividends as declared from time to time
and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings
of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally
with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

The Company allotted and issued 1,000 shares
during the year with par value of HK$10,
equivalent to RMB8.77 to its shareholders, for a
total consideration of RMB48,731,400, equivalent

to HK$55,360,000.

As a result of the Reorganisation set out in note
1(b), the share capital of lcon Media was indirectly
owned as to 100% by the Company. The share
capital in the consolidated financial statements of
financial position as at 31 December 2019

BEBS A AFEEET
RERNOKRE  LHER
RRBRE BB 1%
—R-AEEAREAR
ARBEENAEERZE
TEF o

RAREE » KRR EERK
B i 2% N B 171,000 B =A%
HEAI0ET(HERA
RE&g77m)lktn - 4@
REABARYE 4873140070
(8 7 55,360,000 78 7T) °

FRARKIEE 1 (o) TSR EAR
RMBEE AR A B AR A
MIEEEA 100% ° 20194
12 A 31 B&YERE B SRR
KABRAKNEIEARD B KR

represented solely the share capital of the 7K o

Company.

Since the Group's Reorganisation(note 1(b)) was
not completed as at 31 December 2018, the share
capital in the consolidated statements of financial
position as at 31 December 2018 represented the

share capital of lcon Media.

HARASEEAHT
(b)) W & PR 2018F 12 A
31 HFER - MR 20184 12
A3 BEHFEMBMRAEK
A Y AR S $5 K 50 {5 45 O B
z]go
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RE VIR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (BB B FTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

23 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 23 BX - RERRKRE (H&)
(Continued)
(a) Share capital (Continued) (a) B (&)
(ii) Capitalisation issue (i) EARML®T
Pursuant to a written resolution of the BB R RIRERN 2019F
shareholders of the Company passed on 11 12A 1 BBBNEREAER
December 2019, an aggregate of 134,999,000 Z2 A ££134,999,000 i
shares of HK$0.01 each were allotted and issued at M E1E &0018 TH R 5
par value to the shareholders on the principal BRAEREREITTA
register of member of the Company in the 5120201 A13 B A A A
Cayman Islands on 13 January 2020. RAERSEERRAIM
LR -
The table below sets out the number of shares TREINERETER
issued after capitalisation issue: mEg -
Ordinary shares issued at 72019612 A31 HE &I EER
31 December 2019 1,000
Effect of capitalisation issue BRLBE T2 2 134,999,000
135,000,000
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BERERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)  (BRBBFTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

23 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 23 BX - FERKRE (E)
(Continued)
(b) Movements in component of equity (b) REZAKI D
The reconciliation between the opening and closing REBEAERSZAERIED
balances of each component of the Group’s i%ﬂ&ij{z;"}ﬁ%%&zﬁ(\,ﬁ?{:\ﬁg
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated HKEBHE ARTREVEE
statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes RO ERIRE S B2 B EEE
in the Company’s individual components of equity BEY T -
between the beginning and the end of the year are set
out below:
Share Share Accumulated Exchange
capital premium loss reserves Total
B RAEE RHER E R kE @t

RMB1000 RMB1000
AERTL  ARETRT

RMB1000 RMB1000 RMB1000
AERTL  ARETR ARETR

At 24 April 2019 (date of incorporation) 120194 4 A 24 B

______________________________ R T
Shareiswnce RBRT .. LI S .1
Loss for the year FRER - - (14,747) - (14,747)
Other comprehensive income A2 EkR - - - (197) (197)
Toto comprehensiveincome | BEMmE® e R ton .04
At 31 December 2019 FR2019612 4318 + 48731 (14,747) (197) 33,787

*

The balance represents amount less than RMB1,000.

* RBBERTEEIRARE

1,0007T °
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RE IR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

23 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

(c)

162

Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Share premium

The share premium at 31 December 2018
represented premium arising from capital

injection made by shareholders to Icon Media.

Pursuant to the shareholders’ written resolutions
of lcon Media dated 15 April 2019, share premium
of RMB16,810,000 of Icon Media was capitalised to

its share capital.

Under the Companies Law of Cayman Islands, the
funds in the Company's share premium account
are distributable to the equity shareholders
provided that immediately following the date on
which the dividend is proposed to be distrusted,
the Company will be in a position to pay off its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of

business.

(i) Statutoryreserve

According to the PRC Company Law, the
Company’s PRC subsidiaries are required to
transfer 10% of their profit after taxation, as
determined under the PRC accounting
regulations, to statutory reserve until the reserve
balance reaches 50% of the registered capital. The
transfer to this reserve must be made before

distribution of a dividend to shareholders.

Statutory reserve can be used to reduce previous
years' losses, if any, and may be converted into
capital in proportion to the existing equity interest

of investors.
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(c)

RENEERRAR

(i)

(ii)

R 2018412 A 31 BRI
i (B 48 IR [A) R 5M B 1+
BEERRE -

RIRRBAEE H B 42019
FARISHNREZEER
BB RAABENRM &
BARK 16810000 TEE
TMEEHRAK -

RERSHSRRE  H
EREgZRkEREEH
% RNARBERENR
BEEBBETIHE
%5 BIARRBE 2 Betn it (B
B2 DIKRTARE
AR -

EEMRE

REFBEARE  AAF
MR EKBARESRES
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BERERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

23 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations
with functional currencies other than the RMB
presentation currency. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies set out in
note 1(r).

Other reserve

Other reserve represents the difference between
(1) the total consideration of RMB48,731,000 due
from the Company’s shareholders arising from
Reorganisation; and (2) the aggregate amount of
share capital and share premium of Icon Media of
RMB36,824,000 prior to Reorganisation.

(d) Distributability of reserves

As at 31 December 2019, the aggregate amounts of
reserves available for distribution to equity shareholders
of the Company was approximately RMB33,787,000 ,
which comprises of share premium offset by
accumulated losses of the Company.

(BRBBMIEIN - HAAREIIR)

23 BX - @EkKE (&)

(c)

(d)

2019 FEH RANABEBRERERAE

RENEERAZE (E)
(iii) E R {EHE

ERFREERERERE
AARBZIEEUINE
BIERINEEENEINE
5 2 B %5 R O P B HME
ER o REIIREME 0
P et R -

(iv) HibhRE

H e () EA MR E
WARRERRBERE
ANE#48731,0007T ¢ & (2)
EHARTRMEEAR AR R
B aRERESBARKE
36,824,000 7T 2 A1) Z 58 ©

CIR P i3E 4

R2019F 12 A31 8 @ Alt 9k
TAAAEEBRROFERRE
#5 NR#33,787,0007C * BLE
KRR R EEEENRGD

i B
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RE IR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RSB - HUAARKETITR)

23 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

(e) Capital management

()

164

The Group's primary objective when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, so that it can continue to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing
access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholders returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes
in economic conditions.

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries are subject to
externally imposed capital requirements.

Dividends

The board has resolved not to declare any dividends for
the year ended 31 December 2019.

The Group declared and paid a dividend of RMB30,000,000
in August 2019.
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AU BERERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)  (BRBBFTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

Exposure to credit, liquidity and currency risks arises in the
normal course of the Group’s business. The Group's exposure
to these risks and the financial risk management policies and
practices used by the Group to manage these risks are
described below.

(a) Creditrisk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is
primarily attributable to trade and other receivables. The
Group's exposure to credit risk arising from cash and
cash equivalents and restricted deposits with a bank is
limited because the counterparties are banks with high-
credit-quality, for which the Group considers to have
low credit risk. Management has a credit policy in place
and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on
an ongoing basis.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which
would expose the Group to credit risk.

Trade and other receivables

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of each customer rather
than the industry or country in which the customers
operate and therefore significant concentrations of
credit risk primarily arise when the Group has significant
exposure to individual customers. At the end of the
reporting period, 23% (2018: 6%) of the total trade and
other receivables was due from the Group's largest
customer by revenue, and 25% (2018: 66%) of the total
trade and other receivables was due from the Group's 5
largest customers by revenue respectively.

24 SREMEEREMEEND
REE

AEBE-—REBBER P RER-
RBESREBER o NEE I
FRBAAERANEBARE R
FREMNEREREERRRED
NP e

(a) EHAREK

ERRAREXZHFRERT
HEHNEHmERSEELH
BERNRER  NEENER
R EEREE S &EMER
KA AEEEERE MRS
FEMEERR —ERTHX
REFRAEENERRRE
R EAXZUFREELER
HEERTT AKERSEER
REREE - EREITBEER
B URHEERHFHEEARE
% R IE -

AEBYEEHEMERMS
BAKESEEERER -

BE R HEMEWRE

rEERENGEARBEEZES
ERFPHEBIFEBETE  mIE
EPEEMERNITERER
Eit ERRRBHEFEE
EAEEAREBANEEFNEKX
FERBREE - RIEHR &K
SEEKEAREFPHNKRZLE
5 N H Ath & I FRIE 42 B8 HY 23%
(20184F : 6%) - T A& B fE U
FREFNKBEGEE S REAM
JFE UK R TR 4R BE Y 25% (2018 4F -
66%) °
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RE VIR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (BB B FTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

(a) Creditrisk (Continued)
Trade and other receivables (Continued)

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and take
into account information specific to the customer as
well as pertaining to the economic environment in
which the customer operates. Trade receivables are due
within 15 to 180 days from the date of revenue
recognition. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivable
and other receivables at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs and 12-month ECLs, respectively, which is
calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s
credit loss experience does not indicate significantly
different loss patterns for different customer segments,
the loss allowance based on past due status is not
further distinguished between the Group's different
customer segments.

166 | lcon Culture Global Company Limited 2019 Annual Report

24 SREMEERESMEEND

REEE)
(a) fEAmEME (&)
B 5 R E MW FOR ()

FIEEEZRBRAETEEN
EPAEETEAGERATM - #Z
EHMEFEHERP BT
MBS e & B AT 8 3R
N UWERINEBEEERF &
EPREXEBAEZLERE
MER - BHEKFBBRER
Wz BEE 152180 H A E|
H - AEERBEITERMEFE
KIBHE RS o

AEEZBERBEFERN
TBHERBR L1218 A B A
ERBEANEEIIFEES
JREE LA A TR e L At 7 LK R TR ) S
BEE HENERBREREE
B maRAEENERBRL
ARTREF DB REKRT
FRIEEE - ERE RN
ERREIEE-—IRAEE
TREFHEBZERY



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)  (BRBBFTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

(a) Creditrisk (Continued)

Trade and other receivables (Continued)

The following table provides information about the
Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade

receivables:

24 SREMEEREMEEND
REE (E)

(a) fSAmM (&)
B 5% R H YR ()
TRHEIIAEBGLE 5 UK
HAEMERRRLEER
BREHR

As at 31 December 2019
®2019F12A31H

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rates amount  allowance

BHERE REAE BERE
%  RMB'000  RMB'000
Bk ARBTR ARETR

Neither past due nor impaired PR ERE 0.38% 37,632 143
Less than 3 months past due BHDR 3R A 1.31% 4,520 59
Over 3 months but less than BEEA EEDRIEA

9 months past due 2.75% 398 1
Over 9 months but less than BHEE A LB LR 121 A

12 months past due 8.70% 164 1%
Over 12 months but less than BENEANEELR24EA

24 months past due 100% 158 158

42,872 372
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RE VIR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (BB B FTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

(a) Creditrisk (Continued)

Trade and other receivables (Continued)

24 SREMEERESMEEND
REE (E)

(a) fEAmEME (&)
B 5 R H bW R ()

As at 31 December 2018
722018512 A31 H

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rates amount allowance

BHEBERE EERE - BREAE
% RMB'000 RMB'000
Bott ARBTT ARETE

Neither past due nor impaired ARB AT ERE 0.38% 32,732 125
Less than 3 months past due BEOR3EA 131% 25,875 339
Over 3 months but less than BEEAN EELREA
9 months past due 2.75% 886 24
Over 9 months but less than BHEAEBLR12{8A
12 months past due 8.70% 1,324 115
60,817 603

* The Group's loss allowance included expected credit
losses and individual impairment. The individually
impaired trade receivables as at 31 December 2019
amounted to RMB150,000, which was related to one
customer whose settlement is in doubt.

168 | lcon Culture Global Company Limited 2019 Annual Report

* AEEMEEREBCRER
HERBARERRE- - ©
20194512 A 31 H 2 EE R
BENBSERRBLAER—
BRBEEERBONTR &
AR ¥ 150,000 7T °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A UK MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE
(BREEEIN - HUAARKETITR)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

24 SREMEEREMEEND
REE (E)

(a) Creditrisk (Continued) (a) =R (H&)

Trade and other receivables (Continued)

The Group used judgement in assessing the expected
credit loss rate and selecting the inputs to the
impairment calculation, mainly based on the ageing of
overdue trade receivables, historical payment profiles
and the corresponding historical credit losses rate of the
Group’s customers, current market conditions and
forecast of future economic conditions, and with
reference to expected credit loss rates of comparable
companies in the same industry at the end of each
reporting period. As no material differences between
economic conditions during the period over which the
historic data has been collected, current conditions and
the Group’s view of economic conditions over the
expected lives of the trade receivables were noticed by
the Group, the expected loss rates remained consistent
during the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of

B R EAMmEYRE (&)

AEECRFEEREREBEX
3R 1 H 1 B 30 3 BR A R
ERNBAE DEBRES
WEARAEERFPNEBHE
SEWHIERE - B2
MEBERSERBEREX ™
35 3050 R R A B AR TR
WREHRRITEANTLARTE
HERABELAE BARAEER
W S 3B 11 B HA R A8 B iR i B
BERREANEELTE HEK
HIERHFHNECBERANE
ERTEEAER  JBHE
KRERPNEZE 20195 2018412
ANBILEFE—BEH#FETE °

FAREEZRYGKAEBEENE

trade receivables during the year is as follows: BREREZHNT :
Loss
allowance
BERE
RMB'000
ARBTT
Balance at 1 January 2018 PR20184E 1 H1 BRI &R 82
Impairment losses recognised FRERRRBEGE
during the year 521
Balance at 31 December 2018 FR20184F 12 A31 B & 20195 1 A1 AHY4ER
and 1 January 2019 603
Impairment losses reversed FHRNEELDREEE
during the year 81)
Balance at 31 December 2019 2019512 A 31 BRI &SR 522
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REEmRMET
For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(RSB - HAAREIIR)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk

24 SREMEERESMEEND

REEE)

(b)

170

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short-term investment of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands,
subject to approval by the Company’s management
and directors when the borrowings exceed certain
predetermined levels of authority. The Group's policy is
to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and its
compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities, which are
based on contractual undiscounted cash flows
(including interest payments computed using
contractual rates) and the earliest date the Group can
be required to pay:

RBETRER

REBALN@ERZEERE
BEHAGHREER BN
ReBRETRHAKRERSER
ERAENERNRESFER
HERERERE THEERESD
B ABEARRIERERS
S AEENRRASTEH
ERAERBHEERTRIHEST
EERARER - REEREL
BrEHaHENRETENG
BEAHREEAMHORERE
NENERHARRBARBES
=k
THRETAEENIITES R
BERBEHARNBR TS
HER  ZEERTDERELD
AURBEERE (BEMNAEL
MEFENFEMNR) RAREE
WERNROZERE

As at 31 December 2019
R2019F12831H

More than  More than
Within  1yearbut 2years but
1yearor  lessthan  lessthan Carrying
on demand 2years 5 years Total amount
—FR%®  —-FULE  WEHLL
REX EWENAT BRFUT @t fREE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR AR®TR ARBTR ARMTR
Lease liabilities HERE 4,288 847 - 5135 4,902
Trade and other payables Z SR EMERNTIR 120,948 - - 120948 120,948
125,236 847 - 126083 125850
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24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BERERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)  (BRBBFTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

VALUES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

(c)

24 SREMEEREMEEND

REE &)
(b) REE SR (&)

As at 31 December 2018
R2018%F 124318

Morethan ~ More than

Within -~ 1yearbut  2years but
1 year or less than less than Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years Total amount

—FRg —FNRE BFENE
REK EMENT BREUT st FEE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARBETT ARBTT ARETRT
Lease liabilities HEEE 9,147 4638 1,287 15072 14359
Trade and other payables 2SR EMEMNTIE 33,966 - - 33,966 33,966
43113 4638 1,287 49,038 48,325

Currency risk () E¥EMR

Individual companies within the Group has limited
foreign currency risk as most of the transactions are
denominated in the same currency as the functional
currency of the operations in which they relate.

R E B A E R 785
BR - YRR A MRS H A
HEELERMNINEERER
MHRAE%HE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE VIR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (BB B FTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

(d) Fairvalue

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group's
financial instruments measured at the end of the
reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into
the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS
13, Fair value measurement. The level into which a fair
value measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance of the
inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at
the measurement date.

Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level
2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet
Level 1, and not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which
market data are not available.

Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs.
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

(d) Fair value (Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A UK MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE
(BREEEIN - HUAARKETITR)

24 SREMEEREMEEND
REE (E)

(d) REEGE

i

AAEBEER (&)

Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2018 categorised into
R 2018F 12 431 B
RABEAENENT

Fair value at
31 December

2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
20184
12A318
MRS EE E— E-R F=4
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTT ARETT AR®TT ARETRT
Recurring fair value measurement R E M A A EEF B
Other financial assets: Hith S rEeE -
Unlisted equity securities (ii) (note 15) 3E - T i 2 11 55 55 (ii)
(Kt 15) 1,775 - - 1,775

Notes:

During the year end at 31 December 2019, there were
no transfers between level 1 and level 2 or transfer into
or out of level 3. The Group’s policy is to recognise
transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the
end of the reporting period in which they occur.

Unlisted equity securities held by the Group were
acquired in October 2017. As at 31 December 2018, the
fair value of the unlisted equity securities was
determined by discounting the expected recoverable
amounts upon disposal of these securities.

() REZE2019F128318IEF
B B—REFE_FH MBI
AR - Jhmes Aok s
HE=R - NEEZBET
REEQAABEERHE
Bz S AR IR R o

(ih AEBEFHEHNIELTESTNE
EE DB 2017 F 10 AL
BE o 2018128318 3k
ITREREFNAAEET
BBANHEZSESEER
TBEIR RS REEEE o
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RE VIR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (BB B FTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

25 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 25 JAAE

Contingent liability in respect of legal claim

In December 2017, one of our suppliers (the plaintiff)
launched a lawsuit against Ilcon Media due to a contractual
dispute with respect to payment of advertising fee. The
plaintiff claimed to receive a total sum of RMB7,342,420 in
connected with payment of the advertising fee, interests and
damages and therefrom from Icon Media. On 26 January
2018, pursuant to an order from the court, a bank deposit of
RMB7,342,420 was frozen (note 17). On 6 June 2018, the
Shenzhen Futian People’s Court ordered that Icon Media
should pay the plaintiff the amount of approximately
RMB1,600,000 together with interests within 10 days of the
judgement. The plaintiff appealed against the judgment. As
at the date of this report, the Shenzhen Intermediate People’s
Court had yet to make a decision on the appeal.

Pursuant to the opinion from the Group's external legal
counsel, the decision of the Shenzhen Futian People’s Court
would probably be upheld by the Shenzhen Intermediate
People’s Court and the directors do not believe it is probable
that Icon Media will be subject to further compensation
payment. Accordingly, although the appeal from the plaintiff
gives rise to contingent liability for the Group, other than the
amount recorded as “provision for litigation compensation” of
RMB1,778,000 as at 31 December 2019, no further provision
has therefore been made in respect of this claim.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A UK MEE
For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)  (BRBBFTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

26 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 26 EXBEHARS

E=ZARAEENEBRTERENAT

The directors are of the view that related parties of the Group

include the following companies and individuals:

Name of related party

BEE S 8

NEIRAEA -

Relationship with the Group
BEASENER

Mr. Chow Eric Tse To

BFEEE
Mr. Chau Chak Wing

BE&fE
Ms. Cai Xiaoshan

S22+
Mr. Lau Tung Hei Derek

BRIt
Shining Icon (BVI) Limited (“Shining Icon”)
Shining Icon (BVI) Limited ([ Shining Icon |)
Master Connection Limited (“Master connection”)
Master Connection Limited ([ Master Connection |)
Focus Wonder Limited ("Focus Wonder")
Focus Wonder Limited ([ Focus Wonder | )
Imperial Springs International Co., Ltd.
(A EBR B EBR AR ()
REEBBIER B EBR AR ()
Imperial Springs Centre for Health Management
(e HEFR £ fERERAR AR ()
BB £ el R E IR AR 2 A ()

Imperial Springs Health Hospital (Guangzhou) Co,, Ltd.

(e# i RE RS (BM) BRAF])
A i REIE R (BEM)ARATA
Guangdong Chaohuang Restaurant Co., Ltd.

(ERHERFNAERAFD) ()
BRHAERMABRLAF ()

Guangzhou Asia-Pacific International Club

(M REIFRBLEED) ()

B M 25 K BIFR B ZEEE (i)

Controlling shareholder,
chairman of the board
ERERR - EFEEE

A close family member of

Mr. Chow Eric Tse To
AFBR AT R R EER B
Controlling shareholder of
Focus Wonder

Focus Wonder 8942 Rz I R
Controlling shareholder of
Master Connection

Master Connection F%E A% I% 3R
A shareholder of the Company
RARIRR

A shareholder of the Company
RARIRER

A shareholder of the Company
RARRER

Effectively owned

by Mr. Chau Chak Wing
HEZREEEERER
Effectively owned

by Mr. Chau Chak Wing
HEZREEBEERER
Effectively owned

by Mr. Chau Chak Wing
HEZREEBEERER
Effectively owned

by Mr. Chau Chak Wing
HEZREEBEERER
Effectively owned

by Mr. Chau Chak Wing
HEZREEBEERER
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RE VIR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (BB B FTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

26 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Name of related party

BEME S E8

26 EXEBLERS (&)

Relationship with the Group
BEAXREENER

Guangdong Huaxing Bank Co,, Ltd.
(BERFERTRHDAER LA ()
BREBRITRMD AR A ()
Guangzhou Dongai Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd.
(BMRECFEHEREZEAERAR) ()
BMRPFEEREFR QR ()
Kingold Group Co,, Ltd.
(BEEEER2F) ()
BEEBEARAF ()
Guangzhou Kingold Property Co., Ltd.
(BEMNBEWEBERAFD) ()
BMNBEEMERR AR )
Guangdong Foreign Business Center
(BERIMEEEIF D) ()
BRINEEBH O ()

(i) The official name of the above entities are in Chinese. The
English names are for reference only.
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5

5

5

5

Mr. Chau Chak Wing has significant
influence over the entity

BREEHZEREEATED

Mr. Chau Chak Wing has significant
influence over the entity

BREEHZEREEATED

Mr. Chau Chak Wing has significant
influence over the entity

BREEHZEREEATED

Mr. Chau Chak Wing has significant
influence over the entity

BREEHZEREEATED

Mr. Chow Eric Tse To is a key

management personnel of the entity

BFBrtERRERNTIEETIEASR

(i)

PREBAPXRENBH - BX
HREERS2E -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A UK MEE
For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)  (BRBBFTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

26 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 26 EXBEHBARS ()
(Continued)
In addition to the related party information disclosed MBI TSR E b i FE B 5
elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group entered into BRION - NEBET AT E KRB
the following material related party transactions. LR
(a) Key management personnel compensation (a) EEEIE A S IREN
Remuneration for key management personnel of the REBFEEEAEBNHH(E
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s FEMTsE8 B A S F AN A |
directors as disclosed in note 8, is as follows: EENZB)WT -
2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT AREBTT

Salaries and other benefits He NEAEF 1,632 1,424
Retirement scheme of define JE RA M FORIKET &
contribution 81 79
1,713 1,503
Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (note 6(b)). Hsazast A [ B TAA ] (FEE
6(b)) °
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RE VIR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (BB B FTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

26 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(b) Related parties transactions

26 EXEBLERS (&)

(b) BEAEXRS

2019 2018
2019 20184
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BT ARETTT
Rendering media services to: AT BB 7 R LR B8 AR A%
— Imperial Springs International — R EBR AT
Co,, Ltd. 1,514 12,463
— Imperial Springs Centre for Health — #¢ ERBIBR A dp iR R & 18
Management BRAA] 13 38
— Imperial Springs Health Hospital ~— — it & A A e R & 38 22 ft
(Guangzhou) Co, Ltd. (BIN) BRAR] 11 -
— Kingold Group Co.,, Ltd. —BEEEER A 718 471
— Guangzhou Kingold Property — EMNEEMEBRAT
Co,, Ltd. 717 4817
— Guangdong Huaxing Bank Co., Ltd. — & 5 £ B4R 1T AR 1D
BRAA 2,545 2,181
— Guangdong Chaohuang — ERHBMERNBRAT
Restaurant Co., Ltd. 104 93
— Guangzhou Dongqji Real Estate  — N B 15 #b 2 F 2%
Development Co.,, Ltd. BRAT 334 2,115
— Guangdong Foreign Business — BRIINEEEH O
Center - 491
— Guangzhou Asia-Pacific — BN KB ELEE
International Club - 20
5,956 22,689
Procurement of media resources from: B LA T~ B85 77 R B IHEL &R -
— Guangzhou Kingold Property — EBNEEMEBR AT
Co,, Ltd. 2,422 2421
— Guangzhou Asia-Pacific — BN g KB FR R4 5L
International Club 20 39
— Guangdong Chaohuang — ERBERNEBRAT
Restaurant Co,, Ltd. 59 -
2,501 2,460
Receipt of rental and property BT HERHEE X
management services from: ESEREN T
— Kingold Group Co,, Ltd. — BEKBARAR 806 800
— Guangzhou Kingold Property — BEBMNEBEWERRAA
Co,, Ltd. 133 268
939 1,068
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26 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BERERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBBMIEIN - HAAREIIR)

26 EXEBAEXRS (&)

(Continued)
(c) Balances with related parties (c) EHEAEEF WVAEER
Other than those disclosed elsewhere in the financial Bz N 5 ik 5 ﬁﬁ&%ﬁ
statements, as at 31 December 2019, the Group had the 5’|\Egﬁﬁ/<\22919$ 1233 El EN S
following balances with related parties: SRR oA BRI T
2019 2018
2019 F 20184
RMB’000 RMB000
ARETRT AR®ETT
Trade receivables from: REUNTE@EBTEES
JE YRR -
— Imperial Springs International — REBHRE P EBR AR
Co,, Ltd. - 249
— Kingold Group Co., Ltd. —RBEEERRAT - 1,345
— Guangzhou Kingold Property — BMNEEMEER AT
Co,, Ltd. 120 1,133
— Guangzhou Donggqji Real Estate — EMEEHER
Development Co.,, Ltd. BR AT = 541
— Imperial Springs Centre for — B E iR R
Health Management AIRAR] 14 40
— Guangdong Foreign Business — BERINEEE R L
Center - 12
134 3,320
Other receivables from*: 8 LA T BEEE 7 HY
H A FE ISR IR * -
— Kingold Group Co., Ltd. —BEEEARAT 142 142
— Guangzhou Kingold Property —BNBEMEBRAR
Co,, Ltd. 68 69
210 211
Trade payables to: ST LA T BARSE 5 Y
2 SR FIA -
— Guangzhou Asia-Pacific — BN KB BR R4
International Club 30 34
— Guangzhou Kingold Property —EBNBEMEBRAR
Co,, Ltd. 63 172
93 206
Contract liabilities to: ST LA T BaE 5 /Y
BHAEE -
— Guangzhou Dongqi Real Estate  — &} 3R {152 b 2= A 3%
Development Co., Ltd. ARAR 167 -
— Guangdong Huaxing Bank Co,, Ltd. — & B # FER 1T AR (9
BRAF] 780 373
947 373

* The balances with these related parties are unsecured,
interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

2019 FEH RANABEBRERERAE

B 57 5 RA RS 7 B0 AR R R K
B M EE R

179



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE VIR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (BB B FTIEIN - HAAREETIR)

27 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 27 ARIEEHABMRREK
POSITION

(Expressed in Renminbi) (AN R ¥ZT)
2019
2019
Note RMB’000

et ARBTR

Non-current asset IRBEE

Investment in a subsidiary E(\—F'Eﬁﬁﬁ% ’AETEI’\]&,\ ________________________________________________ =

Current asset REBEE

Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEFEY 43

Trade and other receivables g 5 K HE b E Y R IE 57,778
57,821

Current liability REBEE

Trade and other payables B 5 N EM RN A 24,034

Net assets BEE 33,787

Share capital [ 23(a)(ii) —*

Reserves i 33,787

Total equity EREEsE 33,787

* The balance represents amount less than RMB1,000. * ZmBEk @ IORNARE1,000

7TE o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BERERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

28 NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD

(i)

(i)

The shares of the Company were listed on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 14 January
2020 (“the Listing Date"), with a total number of
180,000,000 shares, among which 45,000,000 (25% of
the total number of shares of the Company) were issued
to the public. The gross proceeds received by the
Company from the global offering were approximately
HKS$62,550,000 (equivalent to RMB55,476,000).

The wide spread of the novel Coronavirus in China
("COVID-19") since the beginning of 2020 is a fluid and
challenging situation facing all the industries of the
society. Up to the date on which these consolidated
financial statements are issued, the Group is still in the
process of assessing the impacts of the COVID-19
outbreak on the financial performance and position of
the Group and is currently unable to estimate the
quantitative impacts to the Group. The management of
the Group will pay close attention to the development
of the COVID-19 outbreak and perform further
assessment of its financial impact. The COVID-19
outbreak is a non-adjusting event after the financial year
end and does not result in any adjustments to the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2019.

(BRBBMIEIN - HAAREIIR)

28 HMEHRFBARER

(i

2019 FEH RANABEBRERERAE

R (A £ 180,000,000 A&
)5 2020%1 H14B8 ([ £
H%D#%%%éx%%ﬁ@
A A)GEM =70+ E A1 45,000,000
%%ﬁ(ﬁﬁ"ﬂﬂ‘ﬁ%m
25%) M AREIT - ARRAIER
ﬁ%%%%ﬁﬁ%%%ﬁ
62,550,000 7L (HHE RN AR
55,476,000 7T) ©

2020F F)iE - A E AR EE K
ﬁGaMDwD%¢IEi§
e HERITEEIERSE
HE%%%%%R BEE%ZE
REMBHmEATERE A&
B 1745 8 7T H COVID19 18 % ¥
REENBRREAMAHTE -
BERMAARESEAEERN
FEETEENH AEET

12 JE 1% % 1) B8 )£ COVID-19 /Y 3
RGNS H O 5 B 1T
— 5 {EH o COVID-19 183 B B I
FEEHERENIEFERSEE I
KB BEZE2019F12A311EF
EZHREVBREREEEMH

2 o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ 2019 /12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

29

30

182

(RSB FEESN

HUARKEFIR)

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING

PARTIES

As at 31 December 2019, the directors consider the
immediate controlling party to be Shining Icon (BVI) Limited,
while the ultimate controlling party of the Company to be Mr.

Chow Eric Tse To.

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 DECEMBER 2019

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued a number of amendments and a new
standard, HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts, which are not yet
effective for the year ended 31 December 2019 and which
have not been adopted in these financial statements. These
developments include the following which may be relevant

to the Group.

29

30

BEER&AEHR

MR2019F 128318 EERAARR
B B # £ %) 75 A Shining Icon (BVI)
Limited @ Ex&%95HIH A B F/E5kAE -

EEMEMAKEERZ2019F 12
A31BIEFEEMMIEET - 5
EAFBREURESF RN E

N Ve —

%iiéii?ﬁﬁkiﬁi%?'ﬁééﬁﬁﬁ FBA
GETA A S EMEIBEEZE 2019
¢12ﬁ31EIJJ:¢F§*|‘ﬁ’5K$%I TR8
BHEZEVHHRRRAOERTM—
HFER - BEVBREERF 7
%o RERAEK  ZFEANBELERE
THIR e AR EBREIAR -

Effective for
accounting
periods
beginning

on or after
AT B
ZEBREN
R EES

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Definition of a business

BEMBIMEED

|25 35%

WIER] B TS

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8, Definition of material

BRG B 1 K RBBGELF

ESSRHIER] » EAZ TS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE 2019 ©F 12 A 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

30 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2019 (Continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what
the impact of these amendments, new standards and
interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial
application. According to the preliminary assessment made
by the Group, no significant impact on the Group's financial
performance is expected when they become effective. While
the preliminary assessment has been made by the Group, the
actual impact upon the initial adoption of these amendments,
new standards and interpretations may differ as the
assessment completed to date is based on the information
currently available to the Group, and further impacts may be
identified before these amendments, new standards and
interpretations are initially applied in the Group’s financial
report.

30

2019 FEH RANABEBRERERAE

(BRBBMIEIN - HAAREIIR)

EEMEEREBZE2019F 12
A31BHIEFEAEMNWIEET - 5
HRFZREBURETRANSE(E)

REBEEFEZFER - AR
kpBR e REAMENERZE
REANEEELOTSFGE BH
ZEFER]  MERRRBEME L
BUAKRENMBRRENEAY
2 - BEAEEDEHVILE
HERRES TR FEERAEE
BATAEBHER - Eih & RS
ZEEE  EANZENERY
BRETR AREZFER
QI R ez ] 25 B R R 7R 5 [ e B
BRER > HEBHEE—FHE -
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Three Year Financial Summary

ZFMBRE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the

Group for the last three financial years, as extracted from the
published audited financial statements and restated/reclassified as

appropriate, is set out below:

TXEINAEERBE=EAMBRFREZE
BARBERBEME  HEEEARE
ZERHMEEZMBHRE LREEE
5,/ B M

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2019 2018 2017
—E-hEF —T-NF —ZT—LtF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARETT ARETT

Revenue Yoz 150,099 208,941 143,765
(Loss)/profit before taxation BEBAT (EEB) HF (51,555) 24,717 23,196
Income tax FTiSH: 9,266 (6,245) (5,934)
(Loss)/profit for the year FER(EE) BR (42,289) 18,472 17,262
Total assets EEHE 134,369 129,444 81,687
Total liability BERE 134,650 57,242 27,957
Total (deficit)/equity (B8) HEeE (281) 72,202 53,730
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